
 

 
 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting 
 

Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 
Committee 
 

Date and Time Thursday, 30th November, 2023 at 10.00 am 
  
Place Ashburton Hall, Elizabeth II Court, The Castle, Winchester 
  
Enquiries to members.services@hants.gov.uk 
  
Carolyn Williamson FCPFA 
Chief Executive 
The Castle, Winchester SO23 8UJ 
 
 
FILMING AND BROADCAST NOTIFICATION 
 
This meeting may be recorded and broadcast live on the County Council’s website and 
available for repeat viewing, it may also be recorded and filmed by the press and 
public. Filming or recording is only permitted in the meeting room whilst the meeting is 
taking place so must stop when the meeting is either adjourned or closed.  Filming is 
not permitted elsewhere in the building at any time. Please see the Filming Protocol 
available on the County Council’s website. 
 

 
AGENDA 

  
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 
 To receive any apologies for absence. 

  
2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
 All Members who believe they have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in 

any matter to be considered at the meeting must declare that interest 
and, having regard to Part 3 Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members’ Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter is 
discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with 
Paragraph 1.6 of the Code.  Furthermore all Members with a Personal 
Interest in a matter being considered at the meeting should consider, 
having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 4 of the Code, whether such interest 
should be declared, and having regard to Part 5, Paragraph 5 of the 
Code, consider whether it is appropriate to leave the meeting while the 
matter is discussed, save for exercising any right to speak in accordance 
with the Code. 
  

Public Document Pack



3. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 
 To confirm the minutes of the previous meeting held on 25 September 

2023. 
  

4. DEPUTATIONS   
 
 To receive any deputations notified under Standing Order 12. 

  
5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS   
 
 To receive any announcements the Chairman may wish to make. 

  
6. HAMPSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY GROUP  (Pages 9 - 

18) 
 
 To receive a report from the Director of Adults’ Health and Care giving an 

update on the work of the Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group 
during 2023. 
  

7. CLIMATE CHANGE ANNUAL REPORT  (Pages 19 - 100) 
 
 To consider a report of the Director of Hampshire 2050 on the progress 

that has been made from July 2022 – July 2023 on Climate Change. 
  

8. WORKING GROUP PROPOSAL  (Pages 101 - 106) 
 
 To consider a report from the Director of Hampshire 2050 regarding a 

Task & Finish Working Group to oversee and scrutinise the County 
Council’s stage 2 consultations relating to specific Hampshire 2050 
savings proposals. 
  

9. WORK PROGRAMME  (Pages 107 - 112) 
 
 To consider and approve the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and 

Resources’ work programme. 
 

 
 
 
ABOUT THIS AGENDA: 
On request, this agenda can be provided in alternative versions (such as 
large print, Braille or audio) and in alternative languages. 
 
ABOUT THIS MEETING: 
The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the 
meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require 



wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for 
assistance. 
 
 
County Councillors attending as appointed members of this Committee or by 
virtue of Standing Order 18.5; or with the concurrence of the Chairman in 
connection with their duties as members of the Council or as a local County 
Councillor qualify for travelling expenses. 

mailto:members.services@hants.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

AT A MEETING of the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources 
Select Committee of HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL held at the castle, 

Winchester on Monday, 25th September, 2023 
 

Chairman: 
* Councillor Jonathan Glen 

 
* Councillor Rod Cooper 
* Councillor Graham Burgess 
* Councillor Adrian Collett 
* Councillor Alex Crawford 
* Councillor Tim Davies 
* Councillor Keith House 
* Councillor Zoe Huggins 
  Councillor Melville Kendal 
* Councillor Peter Latham 
* Councillor Derek Mellor 
* Councillor Rob Mocatta 
  Councillor Tanya Park 
* Councillor Louise Parker-Jones 
* Councillor Neville Penman 
* Councillor Stephen Philpott 
 

  Councillor Bill Withers Lt Col (Retd) 
* Councillor Stephen Parker 
* Councillor Jackie Porter 
   
   
   
 

 
*Present 

 
 
Also present with the agreement of the Chairman: Councillor Roz Chadd, Deputy 
Leader and Executive Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services.  

 
  

19.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Tanya Park and Bill Withers. 
Councillors Jackie Porter and Stephen Parker respectively attended the meeting 
in their place.  

20.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
Members were mindful that where they believed they had a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest in any matter considered at the meeting they must declare 
that interest at the time of the relevant debate and, having regard to the 
circumstances described in Part 3, Paragraph 1.5 of the County Council's 
Members' Code of Conduct, leave the meeting while the matter was discussed, 
save for exercising any right to speak in accordance with Paragraph 1.6 of the 
Code. Furthermore Members were mindful that where they believed they had a 
Non-Pecuniary interest in a matter being considered at the meeting they 
considered whether such interest should be declared, and having regard to Part 
5, Paragraph 5 of the Code, considered whether it was appropriate to leave the 
meeting whilst the matter was discussed, save for exercising any right to speak 
in accordance with the Code. 
  

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

Councillor Crawford declared an interest as a Committee Member of the West 
End Centre and Councillor Parker declared an interest as a family member 
volunteers at one of the centres, both managed by the Hampshire Cultural Trust 
(Item 6 on the agenda).  

21.   MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
The minutes of the last meeting held on 13 July 2023 were reviewed, agreed and 
subsequently signed by the Chairman.  

22.   DEPUTATIONS  
 
A deputation was received from Alan Lovell, Chairman of the Hampshire Cultural 
Trust regarding Item 6 on the agenda relating to future grant funding.  

23.   CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman advised the Committee that due to a technical error in the original 
agenda publication, the Savings Programme for Corporate Services (Item 7) was 
not showing. He agreed that this item be included on the agenda for today’s 
meeting.  

24.   SAVINGS PROGRAMME TO 2025 – H2050 REVENUE SAVINGS 
PROPOSALS  
 
A deputation was heard from Alan Lovell, Chair of the Hampshire Cultural Trust 
on Item 6 relating to grant funding to the Trust. 
  
The Committee then considered Items 6 and 7 on the agenda together, which 
was led by a joint presentation from the Directors of Corporate Operations, 
People and Organisation and Hampshire 2050. 
  
Officers presented both reports and Members were informed that the County 
Council expected to face a budget gap of at least £132m after taking account of 
annual Council tax increases at the maximum permitted level of 4.99% and 
additional grant funding expected to be provided by the government in 2024/25. 
  
The Committee acknowledged that the reduction in funding to the County 
Council presented a difficult set of circumstances. They were advised that both 
Members and Officers continued to lobby Government to seek a fairer funding 
formula and legislative change for some services to help to close the gap. 
  
Members continued to recognise the importance of continuing the constructive 
relationship it has with the Hampshire Cultural Trust as it undertook the 
necessary transformation to be less reliant on local authority revenue funding.  
  
In considering proposals regarding revenue grants and one-off competitive 
grants, the Committee suggested a proposal to ensure that officers look at grant 
funding in the round across both the County Council and its various grant 
streams as well as across the various tiers of government that operate in our 
area. Officers agreed that this scope was within the current proposals and 
recommendations as set out in the report for this to happen. 
  
The Chairman put the recommendation to the vote and it was carried. 

Page 6



3 
 

  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee 
supports the recommendations being proposed to the Leader and Executive 
Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services in paragraph 2 of the 
attached report.  

25.   SAVINGS PROGRAMME TO 2025 - CORPORATE SERVICES REVENUE 
SAVINGS PROPOSALS  
 
Discussion combined under Minute number 24. 
  
The Chairman put the recommendation to the vote and it was carried. 
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee 
supports the recommendations being proposed to the Leader and Executive 
Member for Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services in paragraph 2 of the 
attached report.  

26.   WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee considered the Work Programme (Item 8 in the Minute Book). 
  
During discussion. Members noted that no slot had been identified for the budget 
monitoring reports. Timings would be identified with the Director of Corporate 
Operations and included in a future work programme.  
  
RESOLVED: 
  
That the work programme be agreed. 
 
 
 
 
  
 Chairman,  
 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



 

 
 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 

Decision Report 

Decision Maker: Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources 
Select Committee 
 

Date: 30 November 2023 
 

Title: Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group  
 

Report From: Director of Adults’ Health and Care  
 

 

Contact name: Robert Ormerod         

Email: robert.ormerod@hants.gov.uk 

 
Purpose of this Report  
1.  The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the work of the 

Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group during 2023.  
 
Recommendation  
2.  That the Select Committee notes the progress on the work of the Hampshire 

Community Safety Strategy Group (HCSSG), including the role in providing 
oversight and assurance of collaborative arrangements at the Hampshire 
county-level to address community safety priorities. 

 
Executive Summary   
3.  This report provides an update on progress of the work of the Hampshire 

Community Safety Strategy Group in ensuring effective collaborative 
arrangements at the county level to address strategic community safety 
priorities. 

 
Contextual information  
4.  The role of the Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group (HCSSG) is to 

prepare a Community Safety Agreement based on a strategic assessment for 
the area which gathers evidence to inform strategic priorities relating to 
current and emerging risks and vulnerabilities. The HCSSG oversees county-
level collaborative arrangements for addressing these priorities and how the 
responsible authorities under community safety legislation might otherwise 
work together to reduce crime and disorder or combat substance misuse.   

5.  The HCSSG is chaired by the Director of Adults’ Health and Care and meets 
quarterly.  It is well attended by wide range of senior representatives from 
community safety partner agencies.     

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



 

 
 

 
 
 
Hampshire Strategic Assessment for Community Safety and Hampshire 
Community Safety Agreement. 
6.  The HCSSG continues to focus on the four strategic priorities agreed in 

December 2021: 

• Exploitation, serious violence and drug related harm through organised 
crime.  

• Intimidation, violence and abuse of women and girls 
• Hate related offences and violent extremism 
• Promoting community wellbeing and cohesion 

7. Throughout 2023, the Group has continued to receive assurance reports from 
sponsors on the partnership arrangements supporting these priorities and has 
looked collectively at the emerging and common risks and opportunities for 
enhanced collaboration.   

  
Priority 1: Exploitation, serious violence and drug related harm through 
organised crime  
8. There are three main areas of strategic partnership activity which work in 

combination to address this priority:  

• The Violence reduction unit 
• The Combatting Drugs Partnership  
• The Serious and Organised Crime Partnership 

There are well established partnerships across Hampshire which support this 
priority including the Local Safeguarding Boards for Adults and Children (see 
separate reports).   
 

Violence Reduction Unit (VRU) 
9. The Serious Violence Duty commenced on 31st January 2023, under the 

Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022.  One of its main objectives is 
to address high levels of knife crime across the country.  The duty applies to 
the County Council and other local authorities, the Police, Youth Offending 
Teams, the Integrated Care Board, Probation Service and the Fire and 
Rescue Service.  The Police and Crime Commissioner receives funding to 
work with responsible partners to conduct a strategic assessment and 
response plan for all the partners to support.  There is strong partnership 
governance around this element.  A VRU Director for Hampshire, Portsmouth 
Southampton and the Isle of Wight has been appointed and is co-ordinated a 
partnership-led “public health” approach to tackling serious violence.   

10. In 2023 this work has included the co-production of a needs assessment” and 
the development of a tactical response arrangements for addressing local 
areas of concern and for working with priority offenders.  The more 
challenging aspect is in the understanding of vulnerability to becoming 
involved in, or a victim of, serious violence, and in developing effective 

Page 10



 

 
 

preventative strategies.  This involves continued close co-ordination with the 
work of the Willow Team and Youth Offending Team in Children’s Services 
and is supported by a “trauma informed practice” concordat between all 
partners.  The common definition of serious violence established across 
Hampshire and the isle of Wight includes possession of weapons, violence 
with injury, robbery of personal property, robbery of business property, violent 
disorder and riot and homicide.   Police data identifies possession as the 
single biggest offence despite its under reporting and under-recording.  

 
Hampshire Combating Drugs Partnership 
11. The Hampshire Combating Drugs Partnership, chaired by the Director of 

Public Health works closely with pan Hampshire arrangements chaired by the 
Police and Crime Commissioner.  It has prepared a needs assessment and 
response plan covering the three pillars of the national drug strategy below.  It 
also recognises the drivers and harm of alcohol abuse in the development of 
its strategy: 
Achieving a generational shift in demand for drugs:  

• commissioning preventative work in schools 
• early intervention and signposting for children, young people and 

families most at risk of substance misuse (identifying hidden harm) 
• targeted interventions preventing the escalation of use and harm 
• maximise opportunities for early intervention into treatment eg the 

expansion of drug testing on arrest 

Breaking drug supply chains 
• disruption of county lines 
• protecting vulnerable adults from cuckooing 
• increase the sharing of community intelligence (CPI) 
• safeguarding those vulnerable (both adults and young people) to drug 

related harm. 
• early warning system for drug related overdoses: using opportunities to 

neutralise unstable supply 
• coordinated communications 

World class treatment services   
• increase access especially to alcohol treatment  
• work across the system to refer at the earliest opportunity 
• ensure robust pathways of care - criminal justice (including prison), 

mental health, domestic abuse services, social care, acute hospital 
settings and homelessness services  

• address co-occurring conditions  
• integrate physical and mental health care with substance misuse 

services 
• education, training and employment opportunities 
• build partnerships with local housing services 

Page 11



 

 
 

 
 

Serious and Organised Crime Partnership 
12. The Serious and Organised Crime Partnership led by Hampshire 

Constabulary complements the work of these partnerships and connects with 
regional and national efforts to disrupt the business model of organised crime 
and to seize the proceeds.  Criminal groups and networks have become 
increasingly agile and sophisticated across an increasing range of criminal 
activity, and in the use of exploitative tactics, including through digital 
channels.  The local collaboration involves intelligence gathering, analysis and 
sharing between partners, and the recent establishment of dedicated county 
lines police teams working closely with Children’s Services and other 
partners.  

 
Priority 2: Intimidation and violence against women and girls 
13. The Violence Against Women and Girls (VAWG) Task Group, established 

by the Police and Crime Commissioner established in 2022, has been co-
ordinating work to complete the problem profile based on calls for evidence 
and data analysis, and to address priorities of building confidence in reporting, 
expediting the legal process, managing offenders and increasing safety in the 
night-time economy and at event venues.  The priorities also extend into 
established areas of partnership working including domestic abuse (see 14 
and 15 below).  The objectives also include addressing underlying attitudes 
and societal norms, which require longer term approaches and challenges to 
policies and practices in a range of settings including education and 
workplaces.   

14. During 2023, progress through these partnership arrangements, supported by 
additional funding and successful partnership funding bids to the Home Office 
and the Ministry of Justice, has enabled several key activities to be 
progressed:  

• the launch of a new Stalking Advocacy and Support Service in July and the 
securing of additional funding for the development of psychologist-led 
stalking interventions delivered as part of Stalking Protection Orders, 
Community Orders, licence conditions on release from custody and 
voluntary Police referrals in the event of “no further action” cases. 

• the expansion of “Project Foundation” to all Police District Priority Crime 
Teams to support the identification and risk management of repeat and 
serial perpetrators of physical and sexual violence in the community.  The 
project’s focus is on perpetrators whose abuse has occurred in a family 
setting where children are present and where police have not been able to 
bring a charge.  It also seeks to identify any new relationships where 
someone could be at risk and put a plan in place to protect them. 

• projects aimed at training in managing the night-time economy, addressing 
antisocial behaviour and intimidation towards women and girls, and 
increasing confidence to report. 

Page 12



 

 
 

• securing Rape Support Testing services for the period 2023-25, and the 
commissioning of an additional Frankie Worker and sexual crime 
therapeutic services across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight.  The Frankie 
Worker Service provides one-to-one therapeutic counselling and play 
therapy support to children and young people aged 0–18 years who are 
victims of sexual abuse, sexual exploitation or female genital mutilation 
with a high level of unmet and complex need or in need of protection.  The 
all-age Sexual Crime Therapeutic Provision offers a telephone helpline, 
therapeutic support and activities to help adults, children and young people 
who have experienced sexual abuse, assault, rape or violence at any time 
in their lives.   

• the commissioning of an all-age Victim Care Hub to provide emotional and 
practical support to victims of crime and those impacted by crime, 
regardless of whether they have reported to the police or how long ago it 
occurred. This is expected to become operational in 4 locations within 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight from 1 February 2024. 

15. Hampshire has a strong Domestic Abuse Partnership led by the Director of 
Public Health.  The strategic needs assessment and accommodation 
assessment has been completed and the strategy for 2023-25 has been 
published with the following priorities: 

• Prevention: providing resources and education to prevent domestic abuse 
through early intervention.   

• Professional care: supporting victims and survivors.   

• Pursuing those who cause harm: actively identifying and engaging 
perpetrators.   

• Partnership: working together as one community.  
16. An additional 10-25s Needs Assessment includes further recommendations for 

service enhancements and collaboration. There is collaboration across the 
wider Hampshire and Isle of Wight area and with the Office of the Police and 
Crime Commissioner (OPCC) on the Victim/Survivor Voice programme and on 
learning from domestic homicide reviews (DHRs).  The Integrated Care Board 
will also be considering how VAWG can be reflected in the design of new 
Women’s Health Hubs. 

17. Given the VAWG priority impacts on the work of many agencies and relates to 
several existing partnership arrangements, the County Strategy Group has 
been bringing focus to leadership and co-ordination around the more cross-
cutting elements with a particular focus on some of the preventative elements: 
a) empowering more women and girls to voice their experiences of VAWG   

b) capturing more evidence and building a comprehensive picture of the range 
of life experiences, including what is typical  

c) supporting schools and reducing the delivery burden on teachers to handle 
expectations and requests around the various safety agendas including 
serious violence/ VAWG/ domestic abuse and PREVENT and enabling 

Page 13



 

 
 

these to be built into established frameworks for social and behavioural 
learning and development. 

d) Developing and extending resources for colleges, universities and 
workplaces to address prejudicial culture 

e) promoting the safe and responsible use of digital channels   
 
Priority 3: Hate related offences and violent extremism. 
18. The HCSSG has received reports from the Hampshire Prevent Partnership 

Board and assurance around the multi-agency arrangements.  This work is 
detailed in a separate report to Cabinet.   

19. PREVENT is concerned with pre-criminal justice interventions to prevent 
radicalisation and the risk of undertaking or supporting acts of violent 
extremism.  A new Hampshire Constabulary Hate Crime lead is joining the 
HCSSG and PREVENT Board to ensure a consistent approach to identifying 
risk, awareness and reporting. 

  
Priority 4: Promoting community wellbeing and cohesion. 
20. Whilst the first 3 priorities focus on aspects of harm, this priority is concerned 

with opportunities to support safer communities through cohesion and mutual 
support across Hampshire’s communities.  It provides a helpful opportunity to 
hear more perspectives from across the voluntary, community and faith sector 
members of the HCSSG and to consider how community and voluntary 
organisations can work together better with public sector partners to identify 
risks and work together on solutions.  A local sector review conducted in 
Autumn 2022 identified continued increases in demand for voluntary sector 
services across Hampshire with increased competition for volunteers and 
funds with particular pressures in mental health services. 

21. The HCSSG has also focused on a specific aspect of this priority led by the 
Probation Service to support the use of unpaid work by offenders in the 
community.  The Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 requires the 
service to consult with local partners on arrangements for unpaid work as an 
alternative to a custodial sentence, providing visible punitive and rehabilitative 
reparation to the community.  The Court can sentence an individual to an 
Unpaid Work (UPW) requirement of between 40 and 300 hours.  It is also 
intended to provide opportunities for practical and social skills development, 
pride in achievement (sometimes leading to continued volunteering) and 
engagement in education training and employment.  The Probation Service 
has engaged Hampshire partners and surveyed over 2000 voluntary and 
community organisations to align this resource with suitable, added-value 
projects in the community. 

22. The Probation Service is also working with the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (PCC) to consider the approach to the Government’s 
Immediate Justice concept in the Cross Government Action Plan on Anti-
Social Behaviour published in March 2023.  “Under the new Immediate 
Justice scheme, those found committing anti-social behaviour will be made to 
repair the damage they inflicted on victims and communities, with an ambition 

Page 14



 

 
 

for them to start work as soon as 48 hours after their offence so victims know 
anti-social behaviour is treated seriously and with urgency.”  Currently 10 
Pilots are taking places across England with a view to roll out in April 2024. 

 
Climate Change Impact Assessment  
23.   Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 

carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These 
tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, 
policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate 
change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ 
temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change 
considerations are built into everything the Authority does. 

24. This is an annual report providing an update an update on the work of the 
Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group, so therefore no Climate 
Change assessment has been undertaken. 

 
Conclusion 
25. This report demonstrates continued progress in the work of the Hampshire 

Community Safety Strategy Group in providing assurance around effective 
collaborative arrangements to address the strategic priorities, and in 
supporting effective links between the respective partnerships to promote 
whole systems working and efficient use of resources. 

 

  

Page 15



 

 
 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
Document Location  

Hampshire Community Safety Strategic 
Assessment and Hampshire Community 
Safety Agreement  

 

Page 16



 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 

prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as 
set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 
and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 

relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
The assurance process around effective collaboration to address strategic 
community safety priorities supports compliance with the Public Sector Equality duty.  
Specific equalities impacts are considered in relation to the individual programmes of 
activity within the strategic priorities. 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report 
 
Committee: Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 

Committee 

Date: 30 November 2023 

Title: Climate Change Annual Report 

Report From: Director of Hampshire 2050 

Contact name: Chitra Nadarajah 

  Email:  
 

Purpose of Report 
1. For the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 

Committee to pre-scrutinise the progress that has been made from July 2022 – 
July 2023 on Climate Change (see report attached due to be considered at the 
Cabinet meeting at 2.00pm on 12 December).  

Recommendation 
2. That the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 

Committee: 
Either: 
Supports the recommendation being proposed to the Cabinet in paragraph 2. 
of the attached report. 
Or: 
Agrees any alternative recommendations to the Cabinet, with regards to the 
proposals set out in the attached report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 
Decision Maker: Cabinet 

Date: 12 December 2023 

Title: Climate Change Annual Report 

Report From: Director of Hampshire 2050 

Contact name: Chitra Nadarajah 

Email: Chitra.nadarajah@hants.gov.uk   

Purpose of this Report 
1. The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on progress on 

Climate Change over the last 12 months, highlighting some key areas of 
delivery and set out plans for the year ahead.   

Recommendation 
2. That Cabinet approves the annual update on progress on Climate Change over 

the last 12 months from July 2022 to July 2023.  

Executive Summary  

3. This paper seeks to 

• set out the progress that has been made on climate change over the past 
12 months, from July 2022 to July 2023; 

• provide an update on the priorities for the climate change programme 
following the corporate restructure in January 2023; 

• provide an update on progress on embedding climate change across 
Hampshire County Council; 

• provide an update on progress with the implementation of the Strategic 
Framework including some highlights and case studies showcasing best 
practice on actions and programmes to reduce emissions and build 
resilience across key sectors; 

• provide an update on Networks & Partnerships, Communications & 
Marketing;  

• provide an update on the climate change budget; and 

• set out the areas of focus for the next 12 months.  

 

Page 21



 

 

Contextual information 
Delivering against the Climate Change Strategy during the past year 

4. In July 2020, the Climate Change Strategy was approved by Cabinet, where it 
was also agreed that annual progress reports would be prepared. 

5. To ensure delivery against the Strategy both an action plan and strategic 
framework were developed. It has been two years since the action plan and the 
strategic framework were established and progress on these have been 
reported on in previous reports.  

6. In January 2023, following the restructure, the Council’s role on climate change 
was re-defined to reflect the need to ensure that the Council’s resources are 
used for maximum impact. As most major sources of emissions are beyond the 
control of the Council, a primary function of the climate change programme is to 
influence, advocate for, and facilitate action by others through partnership 
working and establishing the necessary frameworks and strategies.  

7. In line with this it was agreed that the strategic framework would now become 
the main focus of the climate change programme going forward as it represents 
the key strategic priorities that will be essential to meeting our targets and 
embedded into plans, actions and activities of both Directorates and the wider 
organisation. With regards to the action plan, in the main, actions are now part 
of business as usual and in many cases form part of directorate reporting 
processes. 

8. It was therefore agreed by the Corporate Management Team in February 2023 
that reporting on the action plan would no longer form part of the annual 
reporting cycle, ensuring resources are focused on the strategic framework and 
there will continue to be a focus on ensuring that climate change is embedded 
into business as usual, across all Directorates. This will be delivered through 
the Climate Change Group (previously Board) and the climate change team. 

9. When Cabinet adopted the strategic framework, it was agreed that the 
framework should be under continuous review to ensure it remains fit for 
purpose and is a “living document”.  As such, the strategic framework continues 
to be updated and reviewed, particularly in light of the changes set out, to 
ensure that the focus of the strategic framework is fit for purpose and that there 
is better representation from across the Council. For example, areas such as 
education, inclusion and skills which are critical to tackling climate change will 
feature more prominently.  

Annual Report July 2022-2023 

10. The Annual Report (appended) is the third annual report since 2020 and covers 
progress made between July 2022 and July 2023. 

Page 22



 

 

11. The Annual Report covers a number of sections to highlight the progress made 
in the last 12 months. These are set out below: 
Corporate awareness and accountability on climate change This covers the 
work that has been done on supporting staff within the County Council to ensure 
climate change is part of the DNA of the organisation. This section covers the 
work of the Climate Change Group (previously Board), the mandatory Decision 
Tools, e-learning update and ongoing work to support teams across the council 
to embed climate change. 
Hampshire Area Emission Report 
Territorial emissions for the UK are estimated by central government, 
disaggregated by local authority area, and made publicly available online as the 
local authority greenhouse gas emissions national statistics. There is a two-
year lag in data released by government meaning this report refers to 2021 
results. (For a deeper insight into the data collection methodology, further 
caveats about the data, and our scope of influence, please see our 2022 
emissions report.) 

 
Between 2019 and 2021 there was an overall reduction in Hampshire’s territorial 
emissions of 7.3%, resulting in a cumulative reduction of 46% since 2005. 
Included in this figure is a carbon sequestration, which was 0.5% higher in 2021 
than in 2019. 

 
Hampshire County Council Emissions Report  
The focus of the work of the strategic framework is on the Hampshire area 
which accounts for approximately 98% of the emissions, however, it is important 
that we continue to track our own emissions.  This work is led by Universal 
Services and has a separate reporting cycle (see Greenhouse gas emissions | 
About the Council | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk)). 
Strategic Framework. This forms the main part of the report and focuses on the 
Strategic Framework. Highlights on some of the key priority programmes on 
Residential, Transport, Energy Generation & Distribution, Green Economy, 
Natural Environment, Buildings & Infrastructure are set out in this section of the 
report. Highlights include:  

• continued successful delivery of the Greening Campaign in Hampshire 
including below highlights: 
o Phase 1 - 14 communities participated with a combined annual saving 

of £199,651, and an estimated 379.5 tonnes of CO2 based upon taking 
carbon-saving actions at home. 

o Phase 2 - 10 communities signed up across Winchester, New Forest, 
Basingstoke, East Hampshire and Gosport. 14,307.10m2 of land was 
improved as part of the make space for nature pillar, surpassing the 
target. 

• helping to secure approximately £500,000 for the Greening Campaign from 
the National Lottery which will ensure the programme will continue to be 
delivered across Hampshire for the next three years without relying on 
funding from Hampshire County Council; 

Page 23

UK%20local%20authority%20and%20regional%20greenhouse%20gas%20emissions%20national%20statistics,%202005%20to%202021%20-%20GOV.UK%20(www.gov.uk)
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/AppendixA-BaselineEmissions-report2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/AppendixA-BaselineEmissions-report2022.pdf
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/carbon-reduction/emissions-report
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/carbon-reduction/emissions-report


 

 

• continuing the successful delivery of Solar Together schemes which, since 
2021, has helped 2,100 households secure solar panels, resulting in the 
installation of 7,400kw of rooftop solar power, which has the capacity to 
save an estimated 46,000 tonnes of carbon emissions; 

• supporting the delivery of a new website for the Environment Centre to 
provide free, trusted and straightforward advice about climate change, 
energy and sustainability. The new website has received 42,395 visitors in 
the 8 months since its launch in November 2022. This represents a 12-fold 
increase on the previous 12 months. This project has proved invaluable 
during a period of high energy costs and a cost-of-living crisis as the 
number of people living in fuel poverty increased substantially between 
2020 and 2022; 

• development of a viable and bespoke business case for an area-wide 
retrofit scheme; 

• completion of the first stage of research with University of Southampton into 
the renewable energy potential in Hampshire to meet our energy needs;  

• the Bus Service Improvement Plan has also been adopted, alongside 8 
Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plans; 

• Post Covid the County Council continues to use its bus budgets to keep as 
many bus routes going following a reduction in demand and income for bus 
operators; 

• over 100 staff who look after or improve our streets and spaces have been 
trained in how to apply the Healthy Streets Framework;  

• successful in securing funding for a programme of works to design and 
deliver new demonstration active travel schemes; 

• bid for Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) funding has been 
submitted;  

• continuing to work in partnership with The Retrofit Academy to increase 
local delivery of courses for retrofit skills including understanding retrofit, 
adviser, assessor, and co-ordinators and to understand better the current 
state of retrofit skills in Hampshire; 

• using the Government’s flagship Skills Bootcamps programme to directly 
commission a range of training courses in low carbon construction, retrofit 
and green transport skills to meet the identified needs of the sectors; 

• working with Hampshire and Surrey Chambers of Commerce to develop 
Local Skills Improvement Plans helping the County Council  to better 
understand the breadth and depth of the skills needed to support the low 
carbon economy in its area and to focus future investment through the Local 
Skills Improvement Fund; 

• the Hampshire Forest Partnership launched; 

• the Waste Prevention Grant Fund has now supported more than 100 
projects countywide to help their communities reduce waste; 

Page 24



 

 

• the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan: Partial Update is currently being 
developed. The Draft Plan includes a strengthened Climate Change Policy 
which requires all applications to include a Climate Change Assessment;  

• action on climate change and health through spatial planning and 
placemaking has been embedded into the ‘Healthier Communities' theme of 
the Health and Wellbeing Board; and  

• the Flood and Water Management team is working with the Environment 
Agency on a 2-year pilot programme for Property Flood Resilience.    

  
Year of Climate Resilience 2022  
This section provides an update on the communications and engagement 
activity undertaken to highlight building resilience with our residents. A series of 
digital adverts to Hampshire audiences have been delivered covering flood risk, 
giving wildlife a helping hand in your garden, home insulation and saving water. 
These adverts generated just under 600,000 views and over 2,300 clicks. On 
Facebook, more than 350,000 were additionally reached.  
Networks and Partnerships This section provides an update on Expert Forum 
and also covers activity and collaboration with local, regional and national 
partners and networks, to learn from, share best practice and to promote 
Hampshire’s leadership approach. Some of the highlights from the past 12 
months are provided below: 

• attendance at the Green Finance Training sessions run by CIPFA and 
ADEPT; and  

• invited to be a member Net Zero Hub Steering Group and the Local 
Government Association Climate Action Group. 

Communications and Marketing This outlines the insights-led behaviour change 
programmes to engage residents.  

• between July 2022 and June 2023, there have been 19,113 unique views of 
the climate change webpages;  

• the new webpage, ‘make your home resilient to climate change’ has been 
created. Over the last year, this page has received 1,713 unique views; and 

• to support the County Council’s new youth engagement programme, two 
focus group workshops with 17, 18-24 year olds were delivered in July 2023 
in Eastleigh and Basingstoke. 

Engagement 
As most major sources of emissions are beyond the control of the County 
Council a primary function of the climate change team is to influence, advocate 
for, and facilitate action by others. A dense programme of engagement activities 
reflects this priority with representation at major events, contributions to case 
studies, blog articles and numerous in-person and online presentations 
supporting partners and residents with their climate activities. Some highlights 
from this section include:  
 

Page 25

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=9936&Ver=4
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whyareweacting


 

 

External Presentations 

• keynote presentation at the Climate Unity Youth Conference July 2023; 

• speaker at University of Southampton 3rd International Conference on 
Evolving Cities July 2022; and 

• speaker at The National Retrofit Hub: Finance Working Group. 
Events 

• the New Forest Show - three days of direct engagement with over 350 
residents; 

• Planet Petersfield - engaged with families and local green groups; and 

• a Parish Engagement event to promote ways for parishes to become 
involved in climate action. Attended by over 50 parish representatives. 

External Engagement 

• UK Power Network on the development of a Local Area Energy Planning 
tool; 

• ExxonMobil on the Solent Cluster Hydrogen Strategy; 

• National Energy Foundation and leading social housing providers on retrofit; 
and 

• UK Infrastructure Bank and Green Finance Institute on retrofit and green 
finance opportunities. 

Case Studies, Blog Posts and Awards 

• winning the Regen Green Energy Award for Public Sector Local Leadership; 

• a case study for Ashden and Friends of the Earth on the Council’s Year of 
Climate Resilience; and 

• a case study for the Local Government Association on how to develop a 
retrofit scheme for private residents. 

12. There are 2 Appendices to this report, as follows: 

• Appendix 1 - Annual Report – this is the full annual report that provides 
detailed updates on progress that has been made on climate change over 
the past 12 months between July 2022 – July 2023; and 

• Appendix 2 - Progress on Strategic Framework – provides full updates on 
key programmes including Residential, Energy Generation & Distribution, 
Green Economy, Transport, Natural Environment etc. 

Finance 

13. In December 2021, Cabinet agreed to support the County Council’s continuing 
commitment to deliver on its climate targets and proposed to fund the Climate 
Change Team within the revenue budget on a permanent basis.  

Page 26

https://groups.friendsoftheearth.uk/climate-action/how-hampshire-prioritising-climate-adaptation-and-resilience
https://groups.friendsoftheearth.uk/climate-action/how-hampshire-prioritising-climate-adaptation-and-resilience
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/building-business-case-able-pay-retrofit-scheme


 

 

14. A one-off budget of £2million was also allocated to the climate change 
programme to support the significant activity required to meet the targets.  

15. Table 1 below sets out a summary of the agreed committed expenditure on 
projects since the budget was allocated in 2020. This allocation includes 10-
15% contingencies for each project. 

16. The total allocated budget of £1,153,895 represents agreed expenditure not 
actual spend to date, which is lower. 

 
 

Table 1: Summary Project Committed Budget to July 2023 
Agreed allocated expenditure to 3/2024  

 
 

 
 

Community Energy South £46,000 Complete 

EV Charging Pilot £100,000 Under 
review 

iChoosr (Solar Together Round One) £47,000 Complete 
New Economics Foundation (Green Economic Recovery) £65,000 Complete 
The Carbon Trust (Baseline Data) £99,000 Complete 
the Environment Centre (Telephone and Online Support) £48,000 Complete 
University of Southampton (Energy Landscape) £18,000 Complete 
Greening Campaign (Phase One) £99,999 Complete 
Parity Projects (Household-level Energy Efficiency Mapping) £45,000 Complete 
the Environment Centre (Website) £24,000 Complete 
Community Energy South (CRF Funded) £100,750 Complete 
Greening Campaign (CRF Funded) £97,000 Complete 
Parity Projects (Retrofit Programme Development) £60,000 Complete 
University of Southampton (Energy Strategy Evidence Base) £121,706 Ongoing 
iChoosr (Solar Together Round 2) £33,000 Complete 
Community Energy South (Grant Funding) £99,400 Ongoing 
Parity Projects (Tender Spec Development) £50,000 Ongoing 
iChoosr (Solar Together Round 3) £35,000 Ongoing 

  
 

Subtotal £1,188,855  
 

 
 

Income  
 

 
 

 
SW Energy Hub (Offsets Parity Projects Phase Mapping) -£30,680  
District Contributions (Offsets Parity Projects Phase One) -£4,000  
Community Renewal Fund (Offsets CRF Funded Projects) -£197,750  
Solar Together Referral Fees (Offsets Solar Together Round 
One) -£52,530 

 
Solar Together Referral Fees (Offsets Solar Together Round 
Two) TBC 

 

Page 27



 

 

 
 

 
Subtotal -£284,960  

 
 

 
Other Allocations  

 

 
 

 
Revolving Community Energy Fund (investment pot) £250,000 Ongoing 

  
 

Total Allocation  £1,153,895  
Remaining balance (unallocated) £846,105  

17. In addition to the income outlined in the table above that offsets programme 
expenditure, income to offset the climate change team’s staff costs was also 
secured as part of the successful Community Renewal Fund bid.  

18. A further successful bid to the National Lottery secured almost £500,000 to 
expand and deliver the Greening Campaign for three years, of which a share 
was secured to offset staff costs in both the climate change team and the waste 
prevention team. 

Performance 

19. Overall good progress is being made on the delivery of the Climate Change 
Strategy through the various activities and programmes outlined in this annual 
report. 

20. Within the Strategic Framework, there is a clear progress on key strategic 
programmes such as transport, residential emissions, energy and environment.  

21. Engagement has become a strong focus for the work this year and the annual 
report clearly demonstrates the significant effort that has been put into both 
developing this further but also in engaging with residents and partners, through 
the community projects, networks and partnerships and very successful 
insights-led campaigns and broader engagement programmes. 

Consultation and Equalities 

22. This decision relates to an annual monitoring report and does not result in any 
changes to services, so has been assessed as having a neutral impact on 
groups with protected characteristics. 

 
 
 

Page 28



 

 

Climate Change Impact Assessments 

23. Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the 
carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions.  These tools 
provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies 
and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of 
being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 
2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into 
everything the Authority does. 
 

Climate Change Adaptation 

24. This report is an annual progress update on both climate change mitigation and 
resilience, for the Hampshire area and across the whole organisation. 
Therefore, even though the tools were not applicable, the report demonstrates 
that significant action is being taken to address climate change mitigation and 
resilience. With 2022 being declared the Year of Climate Resilience more work 
has been undertaken to identify actions on resilience and showcase them to 
different audiences. Overall good progress on resilience is being made across 
the authority.  
 

Carbon Mitigation 

25. This report is an annual progress update on both climate change mitigation and 
resilience, for the Hampshire area and across the whole organisation, and 
demonstrates that significant action is being taken to address climate change 
mitigation and resilience. It also demonstrates that climate change is being 
embedded across all our services and that climate change is a key priority for 
Hampshire County Council.  

Conclusions 

26. Based on the research and analysis undertaken over the last 24 months and 
the agreed focus on influencing, advocacy and facilitation of action by others 
the primary focus for 2023 onwards is:  

• working on the delivery of the outward facing elements of the Strategic 
Framework; 

• focusing on supporting Hampshire County Council residents through 
behaviour change and building resilience;  

• continuing to build on the strategic leadership, influencing, enabling and 
advocacy role; and 

• supporting corporate join-up and the embedding of climate change into 
business as usual across the organisation.    

 

Page 29



 

 

REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

yes 

Other Significant Links 
 
Links to previous Member decisions: 
Title Date 
Climate Emergency Motion 
Hampshire 2050 Commission of Inquiry 

 
Climate Change Strategy 
Climate Change Action Plan 

 
Climate Change Strategic Framework 

June 2019 
September 
2019 
July 2020 
September 2020 
February 2021 

Direct links to specific legislation or Government Directives 
Title Date 
Climate Change Act 
National Adaptation Programme 

2008 
2018 

 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

 
 

Page 30



 

 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 

1. Equality Duty 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 
(‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other 

conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected 
characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, 
race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation); 

- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, 
gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex 
and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it; 

- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who 
do not share it.  

Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 
- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons 

sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic; 
- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 

characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to 

participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such 
persons is disproportionally low. 

2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
This decision relates to an annual monitoring report and does not result in any 
changes to services, so has been assessed as having a neutral impact on groups 
with protected characteristics. 

 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



2022- 2023

Climate Change
Annual Progress
Report

Page 33



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 2

Contents
Executive summary 3

Section one: Ensuring corporate awareness and accountability on climate change 4
 1.1 New Focus on the Strategic Framework 4
 1.2 Embedding climate change 6

Section two: Baseline emissions update  9
 2.1 Hampshire baseline emissions 9
 2.2 Hampshire County Council’s scope 1-3 emissions 9

Section three: Progress on the Strategic Framework 2020-2025  10
 3.1 Residential emissions and resilience  11
 3.2 Transport emissions and resilience  19
 3.3 Energy generation and distribution  21
 3.4 Business and green economy  23
 3.5 Natural environment 25
 3.6 Waste and circular economy 27
 3.7 Buildings and infrastructure and public health  27

Section four: 2022’s ‘Year of Climate Resilience’ 28

Section five: Progress on networks and partnerships 30
 5.1 Expert Forum 30
 5.2 National and regional networks 31
 5.3 Local partnerships 31

Section six: Progress on communications, marketing, and resident engagement 33
 6.1 Insights-led behavioural change  33
 6.2 Climate change website 34
 6.3 Climate change newsletter 34
 6.4 Youth engagement 35
 6.5 Engaging with under 16s 36

Section seven: Summary of partner engagement and advocacy activities 37

Section eight: Summary and next steps 39

Page 34



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 3

Executive summary
This report provides an update on the 
progress that has been made on the Climate 
Change Corporate Programme over the past 
12 months, covering the reporting period July 
2022 to July 2023. 

During the 12 months of this reporting period, 
Hampshire County Council has been through 
a significant restructure which has resulted 
in changes to how the Climate Change 
Programme is structured and delivered. The 
focus has been on ensuring that the County 
Council’s role in climate change is clearly 
defined and re-prioritising our programmes 
and resources in line with this. 

The report provides an update on: 

• new priorities and focus for Hampshire 
County Council 

• baseline emissions
• updates on key programmes within the 

Strategic Framework
• networks and partnerships
• communications and marketing
• engagement activities 

The report also sets out the areas of focus  
for the next 12 months.

Page 35



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 4

Section one:
Ensuring corporate 
awareness and 
accountability on 
climate change

The transfer of the Climate Change team to 
the Hampshire 2050 directorate provided 
an opportunity to review the existing internal 
arrangements for delivering against the 
Climate Change Strategy through the Action 
Plan and Strategic Framework.

The Climate Change Action Plan was 
developed as a way of embedding climate 
change into the DNA of the County Council. 
It did this by bringing together all the actions 
taking place across the whole of the County 
Council on climate mitigation and resilience. 

Despite over 200 actions identified, it was 
recognised that this would not in itself deliver 
against the County Council’s 2050 climate 
targets. The Strategic Framework was 
therefore developed alongside the Action 
Plan to bridge the significant gap between 
the Action Plan and meeting the targets set. 

1.1 New Focus on the Strategic Framework

The Strategic Framework sets out the key 
significant programmes based on the highest 
sources of emissions and priority areas for 
resilience including transport, residential, 
energy generation and distribution, economy, 
infrastructure, environment, and public health. 

The Strategic Framework can be seen as a 
more consolidated and prioritised strategic 
action plan; one which is corporately owned 
and delivered.

It has been two years since the Action 
Plan and the Strategic Framework were 
established. With regards to the Action 
Plan, actions are now part of business 
as usual and in many cases form part of 
directorate reporting processes. The Strategic 
Framework has also been established as the 
focus of the climate change activity that will 
deliver the biggest impacts.

Page 36



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 5

In 2020, when the Action Plan and Strategic 
Framework were adopted, it was agreed that 
they would be reviewed annually as part of 
the annual reporting cycle, and any changes 
or updates would be incorporated as part 
of this. This was done to ensure that these 
documents remain fit for purpose and are 
‘living documents’. 

In January 2023, following the restructure, 
the County Council’s role in climate change 
was re-defined to reflect the need to ensure 
that its resources are used for maximum 
impact. In particular, where it doesn’t have 
direct responsibility, there is a continued 
need to ensure clarity on the role and 
responsibility of the County Council across 
a complex stakeholder landscape, and in 
particular the role of leadership, advocacy, 
partnership working, and establishing the 
necessary frameworks and strategies. 

In line with this, it was agreed that the 
Strategic Framework would be the main focus 
of the Climate Change Programme going 
forward, as it represents the key strategic 
priorities that will be essential to meeting our 
targets. As part of this, it was also agreed 
that reporting on the Action Plan would no 
longer form part of the annual reporting 
cycle, to ensure resources are focused on the 
Strategic Framework. This report therefore 
will not report on the Action Plan.  

As the Strategic Framework will be the focus 
going forward, work is currently underway 
to ensure that the programmes within the 
Strategic Framework are fit for purpose and 
that there is better representation from across 
the County Council. For example, areas such 
as education, inclusion, and skills that are 
critical to tackling climate change will feature 
more prominently. 

As a result of this re-prioritisation, 
engagement has also become a stronger 
focus this year. This report demonstrates 
the significant effort that has been put into 
developing this further.

The primary areas of focus for 2023 onwards 
are: 

• working on the delivery of the outward-
facing elements of the Strategic Framework

• focus on supporting our residents through 
behaviour change and building resilience

• continue to build on the strategic 
leadership, influencing, enabling, and 
advocacy role

• supporting corporate join-up and the 
embedding of climate change into business 
as usual across the County Council

Page 37



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 6

Climate change group

Key to embedding climate change across all 
services is the Climate Change Board. 

During the initial months of the restructure, 
the Board was paused to allow for a review 
to ensure that it was still fit for purpose and 
aligned with the new corporate priorities. 

In June 2023, the Board was renamed the 
Climate Change Group, and new membership 
and Terms of Reference were agreed. The 
Board’s new role and responsibilities include:

• providing strategic oversight and guidance 
over the delivery of the climate change 
strategy through the Strategic Framework 
across the County Council

• taking ownership of the continued 
development and delivery of the Strategic 
Framework and cross-directorate working

• being accountable for and reporting on 
relevant directorate/service programmes 
within the Strategic Framework 

• being accountable for embedding climate 
change across the directorates’ services

• identifying opportunities to influence and 
lobby the government on key issues like 
funding and policy

• identifying opportunities from local, 
regional, or national agendas to support the 
delivery of the climate change strategy and 
Strategic Framework

1.2 Embedding climate change

Key areas discussed and proposed at the 
Climate Change Group have included:

• business case development for a retrofit 
programme

• development of an Environment Strategy 

• a communications campaign to highlight the 
Year of Climate Resilience

• a partnership with The Retrofit Academy 
to deliver retrofit skills and training in 
Hampshire colleges

• further development of a Hampshire 
Community Energy Network

• developing an approach to engaging with 
young people on climate change

• developing a support pack for Hampshire 
County Council teams to embed climate 
change into their business as usual

• continuing support for the Solar Together 
scheme

• reintroducing collective green energy 
switching

Page 38



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 7

Climate Decision Tools

To ensure the County Council is held 
accountable and truly embracing climate 
change, a climate change impact assessment 
has been embedded as a mandatory part of 
our public-facing executive member decision 
reports since April 2021. This has ensured 
that services are working toward a common 
goal – our climate change targets. Two 
decision tools form the basis of the impact 
assessment. The climate adaptation decision 
tool allows staff to assess the vulnerability of 
their projects to climate change impacts, such 
as heatwaves and flooding, and the carbon 
mitigation tool allows staff to assess the 
emissions impact from their project.

Since the decision tools SharePoint site was 
created for staff, there have been 2,725 page 
views. Compared to previous years, there 
have been fewer questions about how the 
tools work, indicating that staff are more 
comfortable with using the tools to complete 
a climate change impact assessment. 

An example of where the tools have been 
effectively used is the proposal to extend 
Bordon Infant and Junior schools. The 
adaptation tool was used to identify the 
areas where the building may be vulnerable, 
such as extreme weather events, and 
consider measures that could be put in 
place to improve the building’s resilience 
to these events. These include high levels 
of insulation, natural ventilation in teaching 
spaces, and energy-efficient lighting and 
heating. 

Another example is a transport proposal to 
support economic development in Andover. 
This report states that developers need to 
consider how transport networks can be 
retrofitted to strive towards carbon neutrality. 
This is also the case for the local walking  
and cycling infrastructure update report, 

which stated that the tools showed they 
were not applicable whilst the infrastructure 
was being developed. However, once the 
infrastructure was implemented, it would 
reduce the use of carbon-based transport 
methods which is beneficial for tackling 
climate change.  

The tools have been shared with all the 
Hampshire districts and borough councils, 
and we are currently supporting Winchester 
City Council to understand how to embed 
the climate change impact assessment within 
their decision-making process. There has also 
been interest from three County Councils 
who are keen to implement a similar process. 

The Climate Change team continues to offer 
guidance to the directorates across the 
County Council. A lunchtime learning session 
on climate resilience and decision tools was 
delivered to Environment, Transport and 
Economy services on 22 September 2022. 
The session explored why it is important for 
Hampshire to be resilient to climate change 
and how services can consider resilience 
when they are creating project proposals. 
A lunchtime session was also held for 
Adults Services on 10 January 2023, which 
involved a presentation and question and 
answer session. The presentation focused 
on explaining the meaning of climate change 
resilience, how the adaptation decision 
tool works, and how this can be applied 
to projects. These lunchtime sessions are 
offered to any service/directorate that would 
like to have a refresher on how the tools 
are implemented within the climate change 
impact assessment.

Page 39



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 8

New e-learning

The Climate Change team began the 
development of an updated corporate 
e-learning on climate change to better reflect 
the embedded nature of climate change 
thinking in the County Council. The e-learning 
provides information on available resources, 
using the decision tools, and how to consider 
climate change and your role. The new 
e-learning is scheduled to be released in 
November 2023.

Support to teams across Hampshire 
County Council

The Climate Change team has taken 
opportunities to provide briefings to staff at 
various internal meetings across the authority. 
A lunchtime learning session on the Year of 
Climate Resilience and a Hampshire Leaders 
Network event on progress to date were both 
impactful and well received. Two dedicated 
climate change workshops have also been 
supported by the team for Highways, 
Engineering & Implementation, and  
Adults’ Health & Care. 

New programme – embedding 
climate change across Hampshire 
County Council

A new project to support every team in the 
County Council to embed climate change in 
their business as usual began development 
in July 2023. The project aims to provide 
resources to allow bespoke climate change 
solutions to be developed at the team 
level. Information and question prompts will 
allow teams to consider climate change in 
a workshop setting. Accountability for this 
process will sit with Climate Change Group 
representatives for each directorate.

Page 40



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 9

Section two:
Baseline  
emissions update 

Territorial emissions for the UK are estimated 
by central government, disaggregated by 
local authority area, and made publicly 
available online as the local authority 
greenhouse gas emissions national 
statistics. There is a two-year lag in data 
released by the government, meaning this 
report refers to 2021 results. For a deeper 
insight into the data collection methodology, 
further caveats about the data, and our scope 
of influence, please see our 2022 emissions 
report.

Between 2019 and 2021 there was an overall 
reduction in Hampshire’s territorial emissions 
of 7.3%, resulting in a cumulative reduction 
of 46% since 2005. Included in this figure is 
carbon sequestration, which was 0.5% higher 
in 2021 than in 2019.

2.1 Hampshire baseline emissions

While this data is a rough estimate of what 
is happening in Hampshire, it clearly shows 
the sectors that are responsible for the 
biggest share of emissions. This informs 
our approach to carbon mitigation and the 
major programmes of work that make up our 
Strategic Framework. A sectoral breakdown 
of emissions can be seen in the introduction 
to Section 2. A series of charts and graphs 
breaking down the data by sector and 
showing trends over time is available on the 
climate change website.

The focus of the work of the Strategic 
Framework is on the Hampshire area  
which accounts for approximately 98%  
of the emissions, however, it is important  
that we continue to track our own scope  
1-3 emissions.

2.2 Hampshire County Council’s scope 1-3 emissions

This work is led by Universal Services and 
has a separate reporting cycle (see our 
Greenhouse gas emissions page).

Page 41

https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/CCS/Shared Documents/UK local authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions national statistics, 2005 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/CCS/Shared Documents/UK local authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions national statistics, 2005 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
https://hants.sharepoint.com/sites/CCS/Shared Documents/UK local authority and regional greenhouse gas emissions national statistics, 2005 to 2021 - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/AppendixA-BaselineEmissions-report2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/AppendixA-BaselineEmissions-report2022.pdf
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/hampshirescarbonemissions
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/carbon-reduction/emissions-report
https://www.hants.gov.uk/aboutthecouncil/carbon-reduction/emissions-report


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 10

Section three:
Progress on the 
Strategic Framework 
2020-2025 

The Strategic Framework (Appendix 1) was 
developed to ensure that key programmes 
are being delivered to tackle the key sources 
of emissions and build resilience in priority 
areas.

This year the Strategic Framework becomes 
the main focus for the Climate Change 
Programme, as set out in Section 1, with 
the Action Plan now being seen as part of 
business as usual across the County Council.  

The pie chart on this page shows the main 
sources of carbon emissions in Hampshire  
for 2021. This demonstrates where the 

Strategic Framework needs to be focused 
– transport, residential, and industrial 
and commercial, with energy efficiency, 
generation and distribution being central  
to all emissions. 

The Strategic Framework was focused initially 
on transport and residential emissions, as 
well as energy generation and distribution. 
Since 2021 there has been a growing focus 
on a green economy through work that has 
been done around retrofit alongside a new 
economic strategy. Further details of the 
programmes covering these priority areas  
are provided below and in Appendix 1.

Carbon dioxide emissions 2021

Transport

Industrial
and commercial

Household
(domestic)

Public sector

Waste
management

Agriculture

3.74%

2.27%

0.98%

46.93%

32.46%

19.41%

Page 42



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 11

As the pie chart on page 10 shows, residential 
emissions in 2021 accounted for almost 33% 
of the Hampshire area emissions. 

The County Council recognises that our 
residents and our communities have a 
critical role to play in building resilience and 
reducing emissions in their own homes and 
through lifestyle choices, or as communities 
taking local action together. Community 
engagement is therefore a key component 
of our climate change work and significant 
progress on this has been made this year. 

In July 2020 we launched four community 
projects to tackle this key area: 

• The Greening Campaign

• Building a Community Energy Network

• Freephone Advice Line for Residents on 
Energy and Sustainability

• Solar Together Bulk Buying Scheme 

Since 2021 work has also been ongoing  
to develop a business case for a Hampshire-
wide retrofit scheme as one of the key 
solutions to residential emissions. Group 
energy switching was also trialled in 2023.

Progress on each project is provided  
within this section.

3.1 Residential emissions and resilience 

The Greening Campaign 

Hampshire County Council has been 
working with The Greening Campaign 
(GC) since 2020. The GC offers a blueprint 
for stimulating grassroots community 
engagement and behavioural change on 
climate change through a phased approach. 
More information about the GC can be found 
on The Greening Campaign website.

In November 2021 the County Council was 
successfully awarded £200,000 from the 
Community Renewal Fund to continue the 
work with The Greening Campaign and 
Community Energy South. This funding ended 
in December 2022.

Thanks to a successful bid co-written by the 
GC and the Climate Change team, just under 
£500,000 of National Lottery funding was 
awarded to the GC in April 2023. The funding 
will enable a course of activity over three 
years, with the Hampshire & Isle of Wight 
Wildlife Trust, the University of Southampton, 
a health consultant, and Garden Organic, to 
help communities work together to address 
climate change across different areas. The 
Climate Change team will be using some of 
the funding to provide strategic support, and 
the waste prevention team is devising a new 
waste prevention information and activity 
pack for communities.

Page 43

https://greening-campaign.org/


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 12

This successful award was made possible 
by the piloting of phase 2 via the County 
Council-funded programme, and the 
subsequent delivery of the Community 
Renewal funded programme. The County 
Council-funded programme saw the 
development of the space for nature, health 
and wellbeing, and energy pillars. Community 
information and engagement packs were 
created for each pillar, and four communities 
were supported with the in-depth support 
of the expert partner organisations (in 
addition to a total of nine who started their 
journey with phase 1). 186 households used 
heat cameras to survey their homes and 
understand their energy efficiency/retrofit 
needs, with 34 individuals heat camera 
trained. A mapping walk to identify ways to 
make space for nature was carried out with 
the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust 
and a health consultant. This has resulted in 
pond and wildflower restoration. To ensure 
longevity for these communities, they will be 
offered the opportunity to continue as ‘Wilder 
Communities’ with the Hampshire & Isle of 
Wight Wildlife Trust.

The Community Renewal funded programme 
awarded £82,000 to the GC, running 
from November 2021 to December 2022. 
14 communities participated in phase 1, 
with four communities completing this by 
giving a climate change action card to 
each household and saving an estimated 
combined annual saving of £199,651, and an 
estimated 379.5 tonnes of CO2 based upon 
taking carbon-saving actions at home such as 
line drying clothes instead of tumble drying.

For phase 2, 10 communities signed up 
across Winchester, New Forest, Basingstoke, 
East Hampshire, and Gosport. 14,307.10m2 of 
land was improved as part of the Make Space 
for Nature pillar, surpassing the target. This 
included private gardens, church and school 
grounds, woodland, and pond restoration 
across the communities. Further, over 2,000 
hours were spent on nature activities across 
the communities, including nature ID walks, 
mapping of community spaces, invertebrate 
spotting, and placing bee cards in their home 
windows, all delivered by the Hampshire & 
Isle of Wight Wildlife Trust. Additionally, for 
the health and wellbeing pillar, talks, picnics, 
art competitions, and the establishment of a 
talking bench took place across communities. 
Finally, all the communities received advice 
sheets from The Sustainability Centre and 
put in place energy-saving hacks such as 
draught-proofing measures, as part of the 
energy pillar. Development of the webpages 
has also made it possible to reach more 
residents.

In summary, the GC continues to be a flagship 
community engagement programme for 
Hampshire, and the continued success 
with engaging communities and securing 
increasingly competitive funding streams 
demonstrates its value and capacity for 
longevity.

Page 44



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 13

Building a Community  
Energy Network

One of the major gaps in Hampshire is 
the limited amount of renewable energy 
generated in the county, which currently 
meets less than 8% of demand. Work in 
2023 with the University of Southampton 
has shown that Hampshire’s energy 
needs can be met with existing renewable 
energy technology, but that significant 
investment is required. While large utility-
scale projects (predominantly solar and 
wind) will necessarily provide the bulk 
of Hampshire’s future energy there is a 
significant opportunity for community energy 
to contribute and ensure the benefits are felt 
by Hampshire communities.

To enable and support the development 
of a Community Energy Network the 
Council launched a project with Community 
Energy South (CES) to develop a pathway to 
community energy in Hampshire. 

Following the success of the Community 
Energy Pathways programme – funded in 
part by the County Council and in part by 
the Community Renewal Fund – to support 
five community energy groups, the County 
Council entered a two-year grant-funded 
programme with CES to maintain momentum. 
This phase started in March 2023 and aims 
to consolidate the work from phase one and 
ensure that momentum is maintained towards 
establishing self-sustaining community 
businesses that are no longer reliant on 
County Council support.

One of the main priorities of this programme 
is to support the groups in Hampshire to 
develop portfolios of community-owned 
renewable energy projects which the County 
Council can invest in through its Revolving 
Community Energy Fund. The recently 
announced Community Energy Fund for 
England will help overcome potential  
project barriers and speed up progress  
for future projects. 

Progress to date against the key  
deliverables is as follows:

Broadening support 
A programme of work to accelerate the 
development of community energy has 
started with New Forest District Council. 
Discussions are ongoing with East Hampshire 
District Council, Energy Alton, and Energise 
South Downs about ways in which the district 
council can support community energy in 
the area. Additionally, proposals have been 
submitted to Rushmoor Borough Council and 
Hart District Council about the potential for 
developing community energy programmes 
in their areas and are pending decisions. All 
this activity reflects the interest from district 
and borough councils to support community 
energy as the wider community benefits are 
increasingly understood.

CES is also in regular discussions with the 
Net Zero Hubs to coordinate the support they 
can offer and have developed a relationship 
with Scottish, and Southern Electricity 
Networks (SSEN) who is now a crucial partner 
in educating and upskilling the groups on 
feasibility assessment training. 

Page 45

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/communityenergy


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 14

Project development 
Since the start of the second phase of work, 
the priority has been supporting the most 
advanced groups (Test Source and Energise 
South Downs) to reach the share offer stage. 
Technical experts have been brought in to 
train the groups on the legal and technical 
requirements of progressing to this stage.

Progress has also been made with the 
Dioceses of Portsmouth and Winchester 
about the potential for community energy 
projects on their estates, as well as the 
Council working to support community 
energy projects on our school estate. The 
first such project is being developed with 
Energise South Downs as a pilot at Swanmore 
College.

Specialist funding 
CES has used its expertise to help groups 
secure funding from many different streams 
and has also been instrumental in lobbying 
central government, which has contributed 
to the launch of the new national Community 
Energy Fund. 

In Hampshire, Loddon Community Energy 
secured £9,000 from Basingstoke and 
Deane Borough Council to cover a paid 
position. Energise South Downs secured 
£25,000 from Golden Acre, one of the 
UK’s leading suppliers of global foods, as a 
development grant. CES is also in discussions 
with SSEN about maintaining a funding 
stream for Energy Alton to support local 
microbusinesses with their energy needs.

Developing advanced tools and training 
There are several technical, legal, and 
financial challenges facing communities 
seeking to launch an energy project. 
However, many of these challenges are 
common to all groups meaning tools and 
training can have a deep impact and cut 
costs.

Training sessions:

• 15 June on how to conduct feasibility 
assessments

• 20 July on the key legal processes, 
delivered by a leading community energy 
lawyer

• upcoming session on developing and 
delivering share offers (6 October 2023)

Tools:

• working with Spencer West LLP, a set of 
legal template documents has been made 
available free of charge to the groups in 
Hampshire, and discounted legal advice has 
been secured

• a financial model has been made available 
to all the groups with a follow-up scenario 
modelling session offered.

Regional steering group 
Crucial for sharing best practices, developing 
solutions to overcoming common barriers, 
and encouraging broader and deeper 
impact across the county, the steering 
group. Meeting bi-monthly, these are also 
opportunities to hear from sector experts 
and local stakeholders. The steering group 
remains an important cog in the smooth 
functioning of the burgeoning community 
energy network in Hampshire.

Page 46



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 15

Climate change/energy advice

For the last of the four projects, we have 
partnered with the Environment Centre (tEC) 
to provide free, trusted, and straightforward 
advice about climate change, energy, and 
sustainability over the phone and online. This 
project has proved invaluable during a period 
of high energy costs and a cost-of-living crisis 
as the number of people living in fuel poverty 
increased substantially between 2020 and 
2023.

Progress since July 2022:

• the new website received 42,395 visitors in 
the 8 months since its launch in November 
2022. This represents a 12-fold increase 
on the previous 12 months. Additionally, 
feedback on the usefulness and navigability 
of the website has been overwhelmingly 
positive

• 28 energy and climate-related blog posts 
have been added to the site providing 
timely information to help residents reduce 
their energy costs and environmental 
impact

• the new website can support a future 
retrofit one-stop-shop and tEC continues 
to express a commitment to providing this 
service when the retrofit scheme is ready.

• tEC continues to align with the County 
Council’s climate change priorities and 
provides a vital service for residents, 
particularly those struggling with high 
energy prices and the cost-of-living crisis

• coordination between tEC, The Greening 
Campaign, and CES continues to produce 
excellent outcomes with shared expertise 
and training sessions being run by tEC for 
community groups involved in The Greening 
Campaign and community energy.

Group buying energy schemes

Working with independent experts iChoosr, 
two schemes were run in 2022-23 to give 
residents the opportunity to save money on 
green energy. The first, Solar Together, brings 
together residents for the opportunity to get 
a market-beating deal on rooftop solar. The 
second, The Big Community Switch, unites 
customers looking to switch to green energy 
tariffs to negotiate market-beating fixed rates. 

Solar Together 
Solar Together Hampshire is a unique  
group-buying scheme that enables residents 
to register at the same time for solar panels, 
to get competitive prices from pre-vetted 
installers.

Since 2021, two Solar Together schemes 
have been delivered in Hampshire. Over 
2,100 households have received solar panels 
through the schemes, via the installation of 
7,400kw of rooftop solar power, which can 
save an estimated 46,000 tonnes of carbon 
emissions. The 2022 scheme achieved a 15% 
average discount compared to the typical 
market price. The installs were managed 
by four installers: Infinity Renewables, 
HomeSmart, EE Renewables, and Fusion 
8, each allocated to a specific section of 
Hampshire.

Due to the tangible outcomes of increased 
renewable energy generation and carbon 
savings, and a clear demand from our 
residents for us to operate this scheme (with 
the second Solar Together scheme resulting 
in 13,816 initial registrations and the webpage 
being the most viewed County Council 
climate change webpage with 6,316  
unique views), a third scheme launched  
in August 2023.

Page 47

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/projects/freephoneadviceline
https://environmentcentre.com/


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 16

The Big Community Switch 
Due to the turbulent energy market caused 
by the pandemic and Russia’s invasion of 
Ukraine, energy companies stopped offering 
fixed tariffs in 2022. This meant the planned 
energy switching scheme was put on hold. 
However, in June 2023 some providers 
began offering fixed tariffs again and iChoosr 
took the opportunity to test the market for 
group switching.

Running the scheme as a pilot, no paid 
promotion was used, though there was 
some organic marketing on County Council 
social media and internal Hants Headlines. 
Despite the limited promotion, 815 Hampshire 
residents registered for the reverse auction 
reflecting the continued appetite for better 
energy deals.

However, due to continued instability in the 
market, the winning bid from SO energy 
represented a very modest saving of £30 
below the price cap meaning only 34 
registrants decided to accept the offer, with 
most choosing to wait to see what the market 
does in the coming months.

In more stable energy markets, The Big 
Community Switch could be a powerful 
tool for getting more Hampshire residents 
on to renewable energy tariffs. The regular 
marketing and promotion of the scheme also 
helps to keep renewable energy in the public 
consciousness. Therefore, the County Council 
will continue to work with iChoosr on energy 
switching.

Hampshire-wide retrofit scheme

Work by the New Economics Foundation into 
a green recovery for Hampshire identified 
retrofit as a key driver of both economic 
recovery and emissions reduction from 
the residential sector. Progress against 
this objective began in 2021 and has built 
momentum over the last two years to the 
point where a self-sustaining business 
model has been developed and is ready for 
implementation. The steps to this point are 
outlined on the following pages.

Understanding the baseline 
To make a case for retrofit on a county-wide 
scale, understanding the housing stock, its 
current performance, and what interventions 
would be required to decarbonise it were 
crucial starting points. Hampshire County 
Council, with partial funding from the 
Southwest Net Zero Hub and contributions 
from district and borough councils, 
commissioned a report into the housing stock 
in Hampshire and what it would take to get 
to net zero. The analysis (delivered by Parity 
Projects) provided detailed information on 
every home in the county but also generated 
two headline figures:

• £30 billion of total investment would be 
required to decarbonise every home

• 6,000 FTE jobs per year required by 2050 
to deliver the necessary work

The mission was clear. That amount of 
money would never be funded through any 
government scheme and the number of 
people required to do the work would never 
exist without support and clear direction. 
The next step was to build enthusiasm and 
momentum with local stakeholders.

Page 48



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 17

Internal engagement 
The scale and crosscutting nature of the 
retrofit challenge meant internal engagement 
and coordination were vital. A £30 billion 
impact on the local economy meant retrofit 
needed to be central to future economic 
planning, and thousands of jobs in specific 
trades meant a concerted effort would be 
required from the skills and education teams. 
The co-benefits of better housing would also 
reach into public health and adult and child 
social care. Several meetings and workshops 
were organised to share the facts, find 
commonalities, build momentum, and support 
parallel programmes. The primary outcome 
of this was the launch of a Skills for Retrofit 
programme in the Skills and Participation 
team.

External engagement 
Following an initial stakeholder mapping 
exercise, engagement with external 
stakeholders began in Summer 2022.  
Primary stakeholders included:

1. lower-tier authorities – ensuring the 
district, borough, and unitary councils in 
the county were aware of the baseline 
report and proposed direction of travel

2. “advocate” groups – using our existing 
networks to reach climate action groups, 
community energy groups, behaviour 
change groups, energy advice centres, 
universities, and others who could be 
advocates (or delivery partners) for a 
retrofit scheme, we ran a half-day session 
to workshop how best to involve these 
partners and design the scheme

3. supply chain – while difficult to get lots 
of representatives from the supply chain 
in the same room at the same time this 
engagement workshop provided a crucial 
voice to employers (with a particular focus 
on local SMEs). What they wanted to see 

in a scheme and how they would like to be 
involved in the process were two crucial 
discussion points

4. colleges and training providers – building 
the supply chain starts in schools and 
colleges. An engagement event with 
internal skills colleagues, local colleges, 
LEPs, and private training providers 
helped get the ball rolling. The skills and 
participation team then took ownership 
of this workstream and entered a formal 
partnership with The Retrofit Academy 
(more below).

Resident survey 
Building on the evidence collected from 
the engagement workshops a simple 
online survey was sent to homeowners in 
Winchester and Fareham. (These districts 
ranked highest in Parity Projects analysis of 
house type, income bracket, and local supply 
chain activity). Using social media ads to 
target homeowners in a likely able-to-pay 
demographic we sought to understand what 
homeowners who were able to self-finance 
wanted from a scheme. The headline findings 
were:

• 80% thought more about their home’s 
energy use now than 12 months ago

• while cost was the main barrier, knowing 
what to do and where to start were also 
common

• 43% would like an end-to-end service (or 
one-stop-shop) and 62% would like some 
form of advice

• 80% would feel more confident if the 
scheme was backed by the County Council

Page 49



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 18

Business case development and review 
Parity Projects developed a bespoke 
business case for an area-wide retrofit 
scheme based on a self-sustaining model that 
charges homeowners and contractors a small 
fee while providing whole-house plans and 
retrofit coordination. The model was based 
on the successful Cosy Homes Oxfordshire 
model but incorporated the local nuances 
uncovered through the engagement activities 
detailed above. 

Further engagement and steps to launch 
A major stakeholder engagement event was 
convened in June 2023 with an outcome to 
establish a formal entity (consortium) to take 
the next steps towards implementation. The 
consortium will likely include district councils, 
advocate groups, and training providers. The 
group will then take on the responsibility of 
securing the startup funding. As of July 2023, 
an MOU was being developed and several 
funding streams were being investigated.

Skills for retrofit 
As mentioned above, the County Council 
entered into a partnership with The Retrofit 
Academy in July 2022. This partnership had 
two primary functions:

1. to increase local delivery of courses for 
retrofit skills including understanding 
retrofit, adviser, assessor, and co-ordinator 
(PAS 2035)

2. to deliver a supply chain report detailing 
the current state of retrofit skills in 
Hampshire

There was considerable interest from 
training providers in the area, but significant 
challenges around funding the courses 
remain. Much like supply and demand in 
delivering retrofit, there is the same dilemma 
in retrofit skills training with colleges hesitant 
to invest in new courses without the demand 

from employers. Year two of the partnership 
began in July 2023 and aims to have courses 
running in at least two establishments in the 
coming academic year.

A supply chain report was finalised in May 
2023 and reflected many of the challenges 
for delivering retrofit already mentioned. 
Of the 245 companies registered with the 
Federation of Master Builders only eight were 
registered with Trustmark as providing retrofit 
services. There are 28 retrofit assessors 
and only six retrofit coordinators currently 
certified in Hampshire. However, there are 40 
companies providing heat pump installation.

Low-income households 
The County Council is not directly responsible 
for delivering central government energy 
efficiency schemes but works with partners 
who support low-income households. The 
Environment Centre supports low-income 
households to access government funding 
for retrofit measures as well as providing 
advice on energy saving and environmental 
protection. Upgrades to their website have 
allowed an expansion and improvement of 
this service.

Co-benefits and cross-sector working 
Several co-benefits to improving the energy 
efficiency of Hampshire homes are evident. 
Initial discussions at the Health and Wellbeing 
Board aim to agree on joint priorities between 
partners that both benefit health and mitigate 
climate change, including air quality, active 
travel, and healthy homes. Furthermore, a 
data-driven approach will be used to identify 
the most significant inequalities in relation to 
climate change.

Page 50

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/projects/residentialretrofit
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/projects/residentialretrofit


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 19

Transport is a large contributor of CO2 
emissions in Hampshire (47%) from mainly 
vehicle tailpipe emissions, with over 65% of 
this from private vehicle use, and therefore a 
key priority area for reduction.

The impact of climate change places 
increased pressure on the maintenance 
and resilience of our transport network, and 
without suitable adaptation and mitigation, 
will result in more frequent and severe 
disruption to the movement of people and 
goods.

The new Local Transport Plan (LTP4) will form 
the primary transport policy for Hampshire 
County Council to 2050. 

LTP4 is aiming to reduce transport-related 
carbon emissions to net zero (neutrality) by 
2050 with these key success factors: 

• carbon emissions associated with the 
use of all transport modes (including the 
generation of energy to power them) 
virtually reduced to zero

• any remaining carbon emissions are offset 
by fully sustainable planting or carbon 
capture

• fewer vehicles, with higher levels of usage 
(to make the most efficient use of road 
space, and energy required to produce and 
run each vehicle)

• less travel overall

The draft LTP4 has been amended following 
scrutiny and analysis of consultation replies, 
however, the Department for Transport states 
they intend to issue new LTP4 guidance, 
including a carbon reduction tool which will 
need to be taken into account. 

3.2 Transport emissions and resilience 

The County Council has been successful 
in making the case for successive rounds 
of funding for improving active travel 
infrastructure.  We now have a programme 
of works underway to design and deliver 
new demonstration active travel schemes. 
These are a new generation of schemes 
being designed to new higher standards set 
by central government. Whilst these are only 
demonstration schemes, they are setting 
the standard for others to adopt, including 
developers, local planning authorities, and 
our own maintenance programmes.

The County Council is also embedding a 
new Healthy Streets Framework. To this end, 
over 100 staff who look after or improve our 
streets and spaces have been trained in how 
to apply the Framework. In practice, this will 
mean that as we or others make changes or 
maintain our roads, the framework can be 
used to help ensure the streets and spaces 
are easier to use by a range of users, and 
that a better balance is made that widens the 
choices people can make about what type of 
transport they feel comfortable using.   

The County Council is also approaching the 
final year of delivering the Transforming Cities 
Programme in partnership with Southampton 
and Portsmouth City Councils.  These will 
see physical improvements completed on 
a number of transport corridors accessing 
the two cities. Measures include walking 
and cycling schemes as well as bus priority 
measures and bus interchanges.

Post-Covid the County Council continues 
to use its bus budgets to keep as many bus 
routes going following a reduction in demand 
and income for bus operators.  Without our 
support, it is likely the bus network would 
have shrunk significantly.  Demand is now 
returning but to a lower base. It remains 

Page 51



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 20

likely that some customers, particularly 
those who felt most vulnerable to the virus 
or who continue to work from home, may 
not return on a regular basis. We are actively 
encouraging them and others to use the bus 
to help support and maintain services and 
have recently launched a campaign to do so 
which builds on the national £2 fare scheme.

The Bus Service Improvement Plan has 
also been adopted, alongside eight Local 
Cycling and Walking Implementation Plans. 
Supplementary guidance documents are also 
being developed for Development Control 
and Master Planning to better integrate land 
use and transport planning. 

In relation to electric vehicle infrastructure, a 
bid has been made for Local Electric Vehicle 
Infrastructure (LEVI) funding. Finally, reports 
for Farnborough and Andover have been 
approved which reprioritise spaces in favour 
of sustainable modes of travel.

Resilient highway network

A highway resilience network map has been 
developed and published. The main aim of 
a resilient network is to maintain economic 
activity and access to key services during 
extreme weather and other disruptive events 
through prioritised and targeted maintenance. 

The highway asset dataset is being 
developed further, such as the gully sensor 
project to improve service efficiency with 
better scheduling, fewer journeys, and 
reduced carbon. The web self-service flood 
form has also been updated, which can help 
prioritise planned schemes and inform routine 
programmes. Further, data is being added 
regarding urban and rural grass verges to 
inform decisions on frequencies of cutting.

A road surfacing guide review is now 
complete which guides the selection of 
surfacing materials and processes for 
highway maintenance works allowing 
engineers to specify safe, durable, and 
environmentally appropriate options.

Appropriate design standards for new cap 
infrastructure have also been developed. 
They are intended to provide resilient designs 
specifying appropriate materials, balancing 
cost and quality to minimise long-term 
maintenance costs. The commuted  
sum policy, implemented from 1 July, in 
particular aims to encourage the adoption  
of new sustainable developments and 
highway improvements by promoting the  
use of durable and sustainable materials.

Page 52



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 21

Energy in the Hampshire-wide context is a 
complex and challenging area in which the 
County Council has no direct responsibility. 
While the National Grid aims to be carbon 
neutral by 2038 there is growing recognition 
that this will not be achieved without localised 
interventions and planning. 

It is also clear that this would be best 
achieved through local open energy 
systems that enable all ‘community’ 
stakeholders to participate in a full range 
of trading opportunities. Although this will 
be a significant challenge, it also presents 
opportunities for local ‘green’ investment, 
skills capacity growth, and wider socio-
economic co-benefits such as improved air 
quality and associated health. Ensuring that 
these opportunities are realised through 
decarbonising national and local energy 
systems requires a systemic approach to a 
future energy strategy. 

It is against this background that the County 
Council is seeking to create a distinctive 
approach to green economic recovery which 
seeks to prioritise inclusivity, quality of life, 
and standard of living as critical components 
for prosperity and economic growth. 

In the last 12 months, central government 
has been promoting the concept of Local 
Area Energy Plans (LAEPs). This is currently a 
weakly defined concept without clear goals, 
templates, or delivery mechanisms. There is 
also a lack of clarity on who is responsible for 
producing an LAEP, with regional Net Zero 
Hubs, Distribution Network Operators (DNOs), 
and all tiers of local government potentially 
having an important role. No resource has 
been made available for the development 
of an LAEP making all parties wary of over-
commitment.

3.3 Energy generation and distribution 

Nonetheless, the County Council has been 
proactive in two key areas:

1. developing the evidence base needed 
to understand the energy system in 
Hampshire, what future generation 
potential looks like, and what challenges 
we face in decarbonising our energy

2. engaging with the key stakeholders to lay 
the groundwork for an LAEP and ensure 
that all parties are on the same page

Hampshire energy evidence  
and research to date

In January 2022, the University of 
Southampton (a member of the Climate 
Change Expert Forum) produced a review 
of the current energy landscape in the wider 
Hampshire area. The report’s three headline 
findings were:

1. average domestic electricity consumption 
was found to be higher in rural areas and 
lower in cities. Without large intervention 
in rural areas to incentivise increasing 
energy efficiency and new technologies 
such as heat pumps, this difference is only 
set to increase

2. areas of deprivation were found to have 
lower gas consumption; this suggests that 
to reduce the gas consumption of the area 
the focus needs to be on the more affluent 
or ‘able-to-pay’ market

3. there is no correlation between the 
percentage of over 65s and the 
percentage of households living in fuel 
poverty suggesting that those living in fuel 
poverty are younger

Page 53



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 22

Subsequently, in January 2023 the University 
of Southampton began work on two further 
pieces of work to understand the future 
potential of renewable energy generation in 
Hampshire and the technical and economic 
constraints to delivering change.

A report into the renewable energy potential 
in Hampshire made clear that the technical 
potential to meet our energy needs is 
abundant. However, this technical potential 
does not account for several constraining 
factors, including grid capacity. A second 
report is due later in 2023 and will analyse 
the capability of the grid to absorb increased 
renewable generation and the costs 
associated with upgrading infrastructure, 
which are likely to be widespread and 
substantial.

Engagement and groundwork 
As well as working with the University of 
Southampton to understand the current 
energy landscape and the potential future 
makeup of a decarbonised energy system 
in Hampshire, continued engagement with 
key stakeholders has ensured the topic has 
remained on the agenda. The Department 
for Energy Security and Net Zero (DESNZ) 
and formerly the Department for Business 
Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) have 
continued to consult on the best way forward 
suggesting that local authority involvement 
will be a key factor of any LAEP. It is also 
clear that the DESNZ-funded Net Zero Hubs 
and the DNOs will be crucial partners in 
developing a future LAEP. 

With regards to the Net Zero Hubs, which 
are currently based on Local Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) geography meaning 
Hampshire is divided between the Greater 
Southeast Hub and the Southwest Hub, 
County Council officers sit on steering 
groups and have attended board meetings 
and project development workshops. This 
early and frequent engagement has allowed 
Hampshire to be closely aligned with the 
Hubs as they develop their offer.

The DNO in Hampshire, SSEN, will be a key 
driver of change in the energy network. It 
has therefore been vital that our views on 
how the energy system is decarbonised 
and how Hampshire residents will benefit 
are communicated. Regular communication 
with SSEN, often in partnership with the Net 
Zero Hubs has helped align our agendas. 
However, there is still much more to do, 
and ensuring the DNO is engaged in LAEP 
development is a priority.

Finally, ensuring that the various strands of 
energy work are coordinated has been an 
ongoing priority. Working with community 
energy groups, the Environment Centre, 
The Greening Campaign, the University of 
Southampton, the Net Zero Hubs, the DNO, 
central government, district and borough 
councils, local unitary authorities, Parity 
Projects, local climate advocacy groups, and 
local industry (such as ExxonMobil at Fawley) 
is a key part of this and aligns with the role 
of the County Council to provide leadership, 
share information, create effective networks, 
and support others to take action.

Page 54



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 23

Retrofit

The focus of the retrofit programme set out 
in Section 3.1 will not only tackle residential 
emissions but will also have a significant 
impact on Hampshire’s green economy. 

The business case developed as part of 
the retrofit programme demonstrates the 
potential to create approximately 6,000 full 
equivalent time jobs per year (2022 to 2050).

General builders would make up about 26% 
of this workforce, with the rest made up of 
more specialist tradespeople, e.g., insulation 
specialists (32%). The work that is needed to 
reach net zero in retrofit is the equivalent of 
173,000 trade years. See the summary for 
headlines here.

3.4 Business and green economy 

Other skills for a green economy 

The County Council is now using the 
government’s flagship Skills Bootcamps 
programme to directly commission a range of 
training courses in low carbon construction, 
retrofit, and green transport skills to meet the 
identified needs of the sectors. This will also 
give local people the opportunity to develop 
their skills and directly access employment 
opportunities. Over 200 courses will be 
delivered by local providers in this financial 
year, with an ambition to extend the scope 
and reach of the programme in future years 
subject to funding. 

The County Council has been working 
with Hampshire and Surrey Chambers 
of Commerce to develop Local Skills 
Improvement Plans which work with 
employers to identify skills gaps and support 
the local provider network to develop their 
provision to address these needs. These 
reports have been instrumental in helping 
us to better understand the breadth and 
depth of the skills needed to support the low 
carbon economy in our area and to focus 
future investment through the Local Skills 
Improvement Fund.

Additionally, a multi-million-pound investment 
from the Department for Education’s Strategic 
Development Fund (SDF), the predecessor to 
the Local Skills Improvement Fund (LSIF), has 
been used to support the development of a 
green skills infrastructure across the county.

Page 55

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/ExecSummary-RetroftProgramme-Hampshire.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/ParityPathwaysReport-HampshireCounty2022.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/climate-change/ParityPathwaysReport-HampshireCounty2022.pdf
https://find-employer-schemes.education.gov.uk/schemes/skills-bootcamps
https://wpieconomics.com/publications/green-skills-demand-in-surrey-and-north-mid-hampshire/


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 24

Economic strategy

The County Council’s Economic Strategy 
recognises the importance of protecting 
the environment as the economy grows, 
highlighting the importance of sustainable 
economic growth that protects the county’s 
natural assets. Work is currently underway on 
the development of an Action Plan to support 
the Strategy and the Environment and 
Climate Change has been identified as a key 
theme that needs to be considered across all 
programmes.

Over the past year, Economic Development 
has been working with partner organisations 
to deliver on their climate change ambitions, 
including supporting Enterprise M3 LEP with 
their Jet Zero cluster, and understanding 
the sector’s strengths and challenges, and 
where there are opportunities for achieving 
net zero in the aviation sector. Further to this, 
is the work with the Farnborough Airport 
Consortium around Future Flight, where the 
County Council has joint-hosted round table 
events to connect businesses within the 
supply chain to discuss future needs of the 
aviation industry, greening its supply chain as 
well as operations.

Support for organisations and businesses 
continues outside of established networks, 
with the Economic Development team 
working with partners such as the LEPs, 
freeports, and membership organisations 
around their climate change and environment 
agendas and understanding where further 
support and enabling can be delivered to 
support their goals in supporting business 
decarbonise.

There are also opportunities to look at the 
gaps left in the funding landscape to support 
climate change development of business 
post-LOCASE and the Leader EU-funded 
programmes. Economic Development 
advised Enterprise M3 LEP on the criteria 
and themes for the latest round of the Future 
Fund where achieving Net Zero by 2050 and 
green skills are significant themes for the 
programme. 

The County Council also plays an active 
role as a member of The Solent Cluster and 
a signatory to the Solent Cluster Charter. 
The Solent Cluster represents a once-in-a-
generation opportunity to affect real change 
in energy production and consumption.  
It brings together a wide group of  
members focused on the decarbonisation  
of businesses and industry in the  
southern region and beyond. 

The Solent Cluster represents a collaboration 
of industry leaders, global organisations, 
universities, and local government, all 
working together to create a low carbon 
future that will benefit the local economy, the 
region, and the UK. See the project plan for 
more details.

Within the sector focus for the Business 
Growth Team, Environment and Net Zero has 
been highlighted as a key sector to support 
and enable through its work, and the team is 
investigating the opportunities in this area to 
specifically support businesses in achieving 
their ambitions.

Page 56

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/business/hampshire-economic-strategy.pdf


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 25

The natural and built environments face a 
plethora of opportunities, challenges, and 
changes associated with climate change, 
and other human pressures, that are 
interconnected, dynamic, and complex. The 
following paragraphs set out some of the 
actions that the County Council is taking to 
address these.

The Hampshire 2050 Commission of 
Inquiry identified that Hampshire’s natural 
environment is a significant and valued asset, 
helping Hampshire to be an attractive and 
prosperous place to live, work, and visit. 

Work is ongoing through a newly formed 
Strategic Natural Environment Working 
Group, bringing together key stakeholders 
across the County Council to ensure that the 
wide range of activities taking place around 
the natural environment are brought together 
to maximise effort and avoid duplication. 
Areas covered include external partnerships 
and boards, biodiversity net gain and local 
nature recovery strategy, water and coast, 
and commercial and green finance. 

The County Council has recently started 
work on a Local Nature Recovery Strategy 
following its appointment by the Secretary of 
State as the responsible authority pursuant to 
Section 105 of the Environment Act 2021.

Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRS) 
are an important part of an ambitious 
package of measures introduced by the 
Environment Act to reverse nature’s decline. 
These include Environmental Improvement 
Plans, Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG), Species 
Conservation Strategies and Protected Sites 
Strategies, and conservation covenants.  

The Local Nature Recovery Strategy will 
be used to channel investment into local 

3.5 Natural environment

priorities for protection and enhancement, 
such as the Environment Land Management 
Scheme; map areas of opportunity for the 
use of ‘nature-based solutions’ to wider 
environmental problems like flooding and 
climate change mitigation; guide mandatory 
biodiversity net gain investments; and provide 
a source of evidence for local planning 
authorities to help them understand the 
locations which are important for conserving 
and enhancing biodiversity.  

The LNRS will link to several of the County 
Council’s existing strategies, including the 
Public Health Strategy, Economic Strategy, 
Strategic Asset Management Plan, and 
Hampshire 2050 Vision, along with the 
emerging Environment Strategy. It will 
therefore have reach across the organisation. 

Early work has commenced across the 
County Council on how the LNRS is to be 
prepared, and initial stakeholder engagement 
has taken place. The work will now be 
developed under the leadership of the 
Director of Hampshire 2050 working across 
the County Council and in partnership  
with stakeholders, with the Strategy to  
be presented to Cabinet for approval  
in approximately 18 months’ time.  
Find out more here. 

Other areas of the work taking place within 
the working group include:

• understanding the potential for all County 
Council landholdings to meet Biodiversity 
Net Gain and mitigation requirements

• developing a coastal asset strategy (2050) 
to understand risks

• explore green finance opportunities in 
relation to nature recovery

Page 57

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/nature-recovery-hampshire


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 26

The Hampshire Forest Partnership has also 
been launched (December 2022) which 
aims to encourage tree planting across 
Hampshire, give advice and guidance on 
planting the right trees in the right places, 
share the positive ways tree planting helps 
the environment, and give communities  
what they need to get involved in tree 
planting activities.

The Hampshire Forest Partnership’s aims 
align with the County Council’s Tree Strategy 
which was published in 2020.  
Find out more about the initiative here.

Participation in the Environmental Land 
Management Convenor Partnership has 
continued, alongside being a member and 
contributor at the Hampshire & Isle of Wight 
Local Nature Partnership, and South East 
Nature Partnership.

The COVID-19 pandemic and the associated 
changes in public behaviour had a negative 
impact in terms of both recycling and landfill 
diversion performance across Hampshire 
as residents spent more time at home 
and disposed of more waste through their 
kerbside bins. Further behavioural changes 
have affected the composition of waste 
(more packaging from home deliveries, 
fewer newspapers, etc.), which continues to 
challenge the waste management system. 

In addition, the delivery of the Environment 
Act has been delayed by COVID-19, and 
the current deadline nationally has been 
pushed back to 2025. Despite these impacts, 
significant work has been undertaken to 
deliver long-term projects that will deliver a 
step change in performance in terms of waste 
for Hampshire.

Hampshire remains on track to deliver on the 
Environment Act with planning permission 
secured for a new Materials Recovery Facility 
(MRF) in Eastleigh to sort the new container 
mix. The district and borough councils are 
working towards introducing a twin-stream 
collection service to complement this 
infrastructure investment. 

3.6 Waste and circular economy

Implementation of statutory food waste 
collections has also been delayed; currently, 
only 3 of 13 waste collection authorities 
in Hampshire collect food separately. The 
Project Integra Joint Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy has been updated and 
all partners are working towards developing 
a new legally binding Inter-Authority 
Agreement.

The Smart Living waste prevention 
programme remains high profile with key 
strands focusing on food waste, composting, 
furniture reuse, reusable nappies, and, 
from 2023, textiles (fast fashion). The Waste 
Prevention Grant Fund has now supported 
more than 100 projects countywide to help 
their communities reduce waste.

Page 58

https://www.hants.gov.uk/thingstodo/hampshireforestpartnership


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 27

Under the Environment Act 2021, from 
November 2023, it will be mandatory for 
the majority of developments in England 
to deliver a biodiversity net gain (BNG) of 
10% at the developer’s costs. There has 
been a partial update about this within the 
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan, with a 
consultation planned for late 2023.

Local Planning Authorities have been 
preparing for changes in the building 
regulations, including energy efficiency of 
properties, ventilation, and ensuring buildings 
don’t overheat. These changes are stop-
gap measures to improve energy efficiency 
in housing regulations ahead of the Future 
Homes and Buildings Standards introduction 
in 2025, which will require more significant 
cuts to carbon emissions.

Winchester City Council has consulted 
on future-proofed local plan policy which 
exceeds building regulations to achieve a net 
zero carbon target. The impact on scheme 
viability of these standards, combined 
with increased building costs, should be 
monitored across Hampshire.  

With regards to public health considerations, 
action on climate change and health 
through spatial planning and placemaking is 
embedded into the ‘Healthier Communities’ 
theme of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  

Following a series of workshops with the 
Town and Country Planning Association, 
an air quality group has been set up with 
districts and boroughs to look at the planning 
response to air quality. The new Hampshire 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment includes 
a chapter on place, with spatial mapping 
of air quality, heat vulnerability index, and 
residential properties at risk of flooding.

3.7 Buildings and infrastructure and public health 

The Planning Data & Research team is 
analysing trends, such as dwelling heating 
types and travel to work choices, alongside 
understanding whether energy efficiency 
plays a part in the motivation to purchase a 
new property. 

Flood and water management

As the Lead Local Flood Authority, the 
County Council has continued to engage with 
Local Planning Authorities as the statutory 
consultee for surface water management on 
major developments. 

The Hampshire Strategic Flood and 
Water Management Board has been 
relaunched, and new catchment plans have 
been published. The County Council has 
supported the preparation of a draft joint 
Leadership Statement for key stakeholders 
to promote improved surface water 
management and responded to regional and 
national consultations including on water 
standards, water resources, Catchment 
Basin Management Plans, and Drainage and 
Wastewater Management Plans.

The Flood and Water Management team is 
also working with the Environment Agency 
on a two-year pilot programme for Property 
Flood Resilience.

Page 59

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=9936&Ver=4
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies#step-3
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies#step-3


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 28

Section four:
2022’s ‘Year of  
Climate Resilience’

Hampshire County Council has a target to be 
resilient to a 2-degree Celsius temperature 
rise by 2050 (whilst still aligning with the Paris 
Agreement of limiting warming to 1.5 degrees 
and having a target to be carbon neutral 
by 2050). The County Council is unique 
in having such a target for climate change 
resilience.

In recognition of the importance of building 
resilience, the County Council declared 
2022 the “Year of Climate Resilience”. This 
was an opportunity for the County Council 
to increase awareness of the importance of 
resilience, and promote our unique approach 
and the actions we are taking to build 
resilience.

Through the work delivered in 2022, the 
climate change website has been updated 
to include dedicated resources on resilience. 
This includes videos and infographics created 
to highlight the excellent work already 
underway across the organisation – see the 
climate change website. Most of this work 
was reported on in the last annual report. 

Since July 2022, further work has been 
undertaken on raising awareness of 
resilience. A case study has been published 
by Ashden and Friends of the Earth 
showcasing how Hampshire is prioritising 
climate adaptation and resilience. This led to 
a presentation at Ashden’s national Learning 
Out Loud event as part of London Climate 
Action Week, which in turn has led to further 
engagement with other councils and has 
raised the profile of local climate adaptation 
and Hampshire’s leading role in this area.

Work is also progressing with the Insights 
& Engagement and Corporate Marketing 
teams to create a bank of creatives that can 
be delivered at pivotal moments throughout 
the year to offer home resilience tips. Aimed 
mostly at those aged over 34, a light-hearted 
theme relating to ‘Keeping up with the Jones’’ 
was used, with a character learning from their 
neighbours about what actions they can take 
at home to build resilience. 

Page 60

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whyareweacting
https://groups.friendsoftheearth.uk/climate-action/how-hampshire-prioritising-climate-adaptation-and-resilience
https://groups.friendsoftheearth.uk/climate-action/how-hampshire-prioritising-climate-adaptation-and-resilience
https://ashden.org/events/learning-out-loud-climate-action-resources-for-councils-communities/
https://ashden.org/events/learning-out-loud-climate-action-resources-for-councils-communities/


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 29

A series of digital adverts to Hampshire 
audiences have been delivered covering 
flood risk, giving wildlife a helping hand in 
your garden, home insulation, and saving 
water. All adverts linked to a landing page, 
offering a series of ‘easy’ options alongside  
a ‘more dedicated’ action for each season. 
For example, collecting water with a water 
butt, getting solar panels through the  
Solar Together scheme to be prepared  
for ‘when it’s a scorcher’, or adding to  
your loft insulation to be prepared for  
‘when it’s arctic outside’. 

Across Google, our adverts generated just 
under 600,000 views and over 2,300 clicks. 
On Facebook, more than 350,000 were 
additionally reached. These creatives can 
now be re-used in the future to continue to 
increase awareness of resilience. 

Page 61

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatcanido/makinghomecarbonresilient


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 30

Section five:
Progress on networks 
and partnerships

5.1 Expert Forum
 
22 organisations are now members of the 
Expert Forum (up from 18 in 2022), with the 
recent addition of Southern Water, Action 
Hampshire, Hampshire CVS Network, and 
the Hampshire Rural Forum. The Expert 
Forum was chaired by Councillor Warwick 
(Executive Member for Climate Change and 
Sustainability) until the end of 2022 and will 
reconvene when new political chairmanship 
is agreed. 

The Forum provides two primary functions:

1. to give expert and representative 
feedback to help guide the County 
Council’s climate change action

2. to support the dissemination and 
promotion of the County Council’s 
community-facing activities to create wider 
and deeper impacts

The forum is not just about discussion,  
below are examples of key outcomes  
from this Forum:

• Data analysis and review. The County 
Council transitioned from using a bespoke 
baseline data set established in partnership 
with the Carbon Trust in 2020 to a baseline 
extracted from national government 
greenhouse gas emissions data. The Forum 
provided expertise and analysis to help 
shape the new baseline (detailed in the 
Baseline Emissions section of this report). 

• Work with the University of Southampton 
on three pieces of work to help establish an 
evidence base for a future energy strategy. 

• The Forum has been key to the ongoing 
development of a retrofit scheme for 
Hampshire and will be instrumental in  
the delivery of a future scheme.

Page 62

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whoweworkwith/climatechangeforumevent


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 31

The County Council continues to engage and 
work with a wide range of national networks 
including: 

• UK100

• County Councils Network

• Defra’s Local Adaptation Advisory Panel

• Southeast Climate Alliance

• Local Government Association’s Climate 
Action Group

• Association of Directors for Planning, 
Environment and Transport. 

Engagement with our district and 
borough partners is critical to ensuring a 
comprehensive approach to climate change 
across the Hampshire area. Engagement 
takes place through sector-specific groups 
(e.g., Project Integra, Tree Officer Group etc.) 
where climate change is becoming more and 
more of a focus. 

There are a number of officer-led working 
groups that meet to collaborate on joint 
projects and initiatives and share actions 
and best practice on climate change and 
sustainability. These include: 

• Hampshire Climate Change Officers Group 
– made up of all the districts, boroughs, 
and unitaries including Southampton, 
Portsmouth, and the Isle of Wight. Its main 
focus is climate change – more recently 
delivering against the Climate Emergency 
declarations.

5.2 National and regional networks

5.3 Local partnerships

These networks have provided opportunities 
to showcase the work the County Council 
is leading on through presentations, blog 
posts, or case studies – to date these have 
highlighted the Decision Tools, the community 
projects, the evolving retrofit business plan, 
Hampshire’s energy landscape, and the  
Solar Together scheme. These networks  
also provide invaluable opportunities to  
learn from and exchange best practices  
in key areas such as energy, green finance, 
and procurement.

• Public Sector Sustainable Development 
Group – looks at wider sustainability issues 
and includes organisations such as the 
NHS, MoD, and Fire Service, along with 
national parks, Solent University, and the 
Universities of Winchester, Southampton, 
and Portsmouth respectively. Hampshire 
Energy Efficiency Partnership – includes 
energy, sustainability, and housing 
officers from Hampshire County Council, 
Portsmouth and Southampton City Councils, 
Isle of Wight Council, and district councils 
within Hampshire and is more focused on 
energy.

• Hampshire and Isle of Wight Planning 
Officers Group Sustainable Design 
Subgroup – includes representatives 
from Local Authorities and aims to share 
best practices and promote and inform 
sustainability through planning.

Page 63

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whoweworkwith/climatechangeforumevent
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whoweworkwith/climatechangeforumevent


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 32

These groups are critical for sharing 
information on issues, projects, funding, and 
opportunities for collaboration. Areas where 
these groups have been invaluable include:

• the promotion of Solar Together

• the development of the retrofit business 
case

• the development of the evidence base for 
an energy strategy

• the dissemination of the climate change 
decision tools and procurement guidance

These groups have also acted as a conduit 
for the dissemination of other County Council 
programmes, including LTP4, the Minerals 
and Waste Plan, and the Tree Strategy.

Page 64



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 33

Section six:
Progress on 
communications, 
marketing, and 
resident engagement

A significant part of our behavioural change 
communications to residents continues to be 
insight-led. As well as the resilience campaign 
mentioned in Section 3, other resident-facing 
campaigns have been run. 

Swap One To Local 

The Swap One To Local campaign was first 
launched in 2020 in response to the easing 
of lockdown restrictions, by encouraging 
some of the more positive actions for climate 
change that had emerged, such as swapping 
an international holiday for a local one. 

This year we ran a second phase which 
focused on swapping out new items for 
second-hand. The Corporate Marketing team 
narrowed the audience to 18 to 24-year-olds 
to measure the level of youth engagement 
and used engaging headlines such as 
‘summer wardrobe in need of an update?’ 
Just under 20,000 were reached, with 816 
clicking through to our webpage.

6.1 Insights-led behavioural change 

Page 65

https://www.hants.gov.uk/swaponetolocal


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 34

Between July 2022 and June 2023, there 
have been 19,113 unique views of the climate 
change webpages. The Climate Change 
team, with Corporate Marketing, continue 
to update the webpages with new content. 
For example, to coincide with the resilience 
campaigns, a new webpage, ‘make your 
home resilient to climate change’ has  
been created. 

Over the last year, four email newsletters 
have been created, spanning Hampshire 
County Council updates, community news 
and national news, on climate change. 
The newsletters’ main function has been 
encouraging sign-ups to our live schemes, 
such as Solar Together or The Greening 
Campaign, as well as raising awareness 
about topics such energy-saving via  
The Environment Centre’s advice line. 

6.2 Climate change website

6.3 Climate change newsletter

Over the last year, this page has received 
1,713 unique views with the average time 
spent on the page being 3m 41s. Corporate 
Marketing is currently undertaking an audit 
of the climate change webpages to improve 
navigation, freshen the style, and consolidate 
content further.

Other webpages from across the organisation 
are linked to the website, to demonstrate the 
work happening across the County Council 
on climate change, and to provide residents 
with the resources to act themselves.

In early May 2023, the advert promoting 
water butt use, as part of the message 
to increase resilience to heatwaves, was 
promoted for the second time. This time 
it encouraged residents to sign up for the 
climate change newsletter for a chance to win 
a water butt. This strategy reaped excellent 
results, with over 1,000 new subscribers, 
nearly 4,000 website visits, and 31.2% 
clicking on the webpage and entering the 
competition. Overall, the climate change 
newsletter receives an above-average 
engagement rate for a newsletter, with 60% 
of subscribers on average opening the 
e-newsletter.

Page 66

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whoweworkwith/climatechangeforumevent


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 35

On behalf of the Climate Change team, 
the Insight and Engagement team has 
been exploring youth engagement within 
the context of climate change. While we 
recognise that young people are not going 
to be the biggest emitters of CO2 in absolute 
terms, there is a need to include and engage 
them as they can cut emissions in many areas 
today and carry these behaviours forward 
into the future, where they will be making 
decisions about larger actions.

To inform effective strategy for  
encouraging climate action in  
younger people, we wished to:

• understand which actions younger people 
are willing to take, what impact these could 
have, and how best to encourage action, 
covered here

• understand the language and channels to 
approach younger people effectively

• encourage future intentions for impactful 
climate actions e.g. renewable energy, 
transport choices

• inform an effective strategy to encourage 
actions by younger people

6.4 Youth engagement

Two workshops with 17, 18 to 24-year-olds 
were delivered in July 2023 in Eastleigh and 
Basingstoke. There was an even gender 
split, with six participants from ethnic minority 
backgrounds, and a mix of urban/suburban 
and rural participants. The workshops 
showed that youths are keen to understand 
what they can do and are willing to be 
challenged with new actions or possibilities. 
It’s also clear that the youth audience 
preferred being presented with a range of 
actions, recognising that no one action works 
for everybody, and having a reward, whether 
social or financial, is a strong incentive for 
action. A sense of connectedness, with the 
feeling that others are acting too, is important 
for building a sense of momentum and 
showing the progress that has been made, 
such as by the County Council, can help to 
combat cynicism. The workshops revealed 
that 18 to 24-year-olds may not have received 
any information about the actions they can 
take for climate change since school and 
college. Therefore, there’s a need to engage 
and inform this audience once they leave 
education through their most used channels 
– TikTok and other social media platforms.

Insights from this work will inform new 
methods and campaigns for engaging a 
younger audience in Hampshire about 
climate change and ways they can make  
a difference.

Page 67



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 36

While engaging with young adults is a new 
piece of work, Children’s Services has been 
engaging children at school and through 
other networks for some time. The Climate 
Unity Project was established in 2021, and the 
2022 iteration expanded to include 17 indoor 
and outdoor public spaces across Hampshire 
County Council, aiming to capture the 
community’s perspectives on climate issues 
through art. 

The Southampton Gallery feature’ schools’ 
work and schools did additional pieces 
that were exhibited across the county in 
public spaces alongside other contributions 
from community groups across Hampshire. 
Artwork comprised of circular work using 
recycled materials to be symbolic of the 
planet and ideas about eternity and inclusion. 
The number of public spaces that exhibited 
the artwork meant that the reach of  
the project was far wider than in the  
previous year. 

6.5 Engaging with under 16s

In July 2023 a Climate Unity Conference 
was held, which offered children and young 
people the opportunity to work alongside 
their peers from across the county and  
to engage in a series of workshops to 
develop their understanding of climate  
and environmental issues. These  
workshops included:

• Finalstraw Foundation – plastic waste in our 
oceans

• David Shepard Wildlife Trust – biodiversity 
and animal conservation

• Hampshire Wildlife Trust – carbon capture

• Stewardship in RE – common themes that 
unite us across the world’s major faiths/
belief systems.

The County Council also delivered a  
keynote presentation to the schools in 
attendance to help them feel connected  
to the wider strategy.

Page 68



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 37

Section seven:
Summary of partner 
engagement and 
advocacy activities

As most major sources of emissions 
are beyond the control of the County 
Council, a primary function of the Climate 
Change team is to influence, advocate for, 
and facilitate action by others. A dense 
programme of engagement activities 
reflects this priority with representation at 
major events, contributions to case studies, 
blog articles, and numerous in-person and 
online presentations supporting partners 
and residents with their climate activities 
Highlights include:

External presentations 

• keynote presentation at the Climate Unity 
Youth Conference, July 2023

• speaker at University of Southampton 3rd 
International Conference on Evolving Cities, 
July 2022

• speaker at The National Retrofit Hub: 
Finance Working Group, July 2023

• speaker at Ashden: Learning Out Loud, 
June 2023

• speaker at a Utility Week conference on 
Retrofit, June 2023

• speaker at Action Hampshire’s Together for 
Our Planet Launch event, September 2022

Events

• the New Forest Show: three days of direct 
engagement with over 350 residents

• retrofit business case stakeholder event 
attended by over 60 people, representing 
organisations from up and down the retrofit 
supply chain with expressions of interest for 
further engagement from over 25 attendees

• Planet Petersfield: Engaged with families 
and local green groups

• a Parish Engagement event to promote 
ways for parishes to become involved in 
climate action. Attended by over 50 parish 
representatives

Page 69



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 38

External engagement

• Extensive influencing around the key 
themes of the Strategic Framework includes 
engagement with:

• UK Power Network on the development of a 
Local Area Energy Planning tool

• ExxonMobil on the Solent Cluster Hydrogen 
Strategy

• Net Zero Hub Board on future projects

• National Energy Foundation and leading 
social housing providers on retrofit

• The Hampshire CVS network on the 
Together for Our Planet Programme

• UK Infrastructure Bank and Green Finance 
Institute on retrofit and green finance 
opportunities

Case studies, blog posts, and awards

Several opportunities to promote the County 
Council’s work include:

• winning the Regen Green Energy Award for 
Public Sector Local Leadership.

• a case study for Ashden into the County 
Council’s Year of Climate Resilience

• a case study for the LGA on how to develop 
a retrofit scheme for private residents

Page 70

https://www.regen.co.uk/winners-of-the-green-energy-awards-2023-announced/
https://groups.friendsoftheearth.uk/climate-action/how-hampshire-prioritising-climate-adaptation-and-resilience
https://www.local.gov.uk/case-studies/building-business-case-able-pay-retrofit-scheme


Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 39

Section eight:
Summary and  
next steps

Overall good progress is being made 
on the delivery of the Climate Change 
Strategy through the various activities and 
programmes outlined in this annual report.

Within the Strategic Framework, there  
is a clear progress on key strategic 
programmes such as transport, residential 
emissions and energy. 

Engagement has become a strong focus 
for the work this year and this report clearly 
demonstrates the significant effort that has 
been put into both developing this further but 
also in engaging with residents and partners, 
through the community projects, networks 
and partnerships and the very successful 
insights-led campaigns and the broader 
engagement programmes.

2023-2024

The primary focus for 2023 onwards is: 

• Working on the delivery of the outward 
facing elements of the Strategic Framework.

• Focus on supporting our residents through 
behaviour change and building resilience. 

• Continue to build on the strategic 
leadership, influencing, enabling and 
advocacy role.

• Supporting corporate join-up and the 
embedding of climate change into business 
as usual across the organisation.

Based on the research and analysis 
undertaken over the last 24 months the key 
areas identified as priorities going forward 
continue to be residential emissions, energy, 
behaviour change and engagement.

Page 71



Hampshire County Council ∙ Climate Change Annual Progress Report 2022- 2023 40

Work over the next 12 months will continue to 
focus on these areas specifically through: 

Energy

• Continue to reduce energy consumption 
through behaviour change by supporting 
the installation of solar panels, batteries and 
air source heat pumps targeted at the able 
to pay market.

• Continue to provide trusted advice to 
residents on a range of issues including 
government-funded schemes for low-
income households, energy efficiency, and 
behaviour and lifestyle change. 

• Continue to support the progression of 
community energy groups towards energy 
generation schemes. 

• Use the evolving evidence base with 
University of Southampton to work with 
and engage network operators, Net Zero 
Hubs, district/borough councils and other 
key stakeholders to make progress towards 
an energy strategy (or Local Area Energy 
Plan) that can provide the framework for 
future generations; including distribution; 
efficiency; guidance for future programmes 
and investments by all key stakeholders in 
the Hampshire area to meet the Net Zero 
target.

Retrofit

• Continue to work on finding a suitable and 
sustainable delivery mechanism for the 
Hampshire-wide retrofit business case.

Behaviour Change

• Continue to support communities in 
Hampshire to engage on climate change 
actions from efficiency to local community 
renewable energy generation and 
behaviour/lifestyle changes through existing 
programmes like the Greening Campaign, 
Community Energy, Solar Together and new 
programmes like Energy Switching. 

Engagement

• Continue to deliver targeted insight-led 
communications and marketing campaigns. 

• Progress the youth engagement work.

• Explore opportunities for other ways to 
engage “seldom heard” communities. 

• Continue to prioritise engagement 
activities to influence, advocate for, 
and facilitate action by others through 
programmes of engagement activities 
such as representation at major events, 
contributions to case studies and 
blog articles and in-person and online 
presentations.

Finance and Funding

• Continue to develop a better understanding 
of the commercial opportunities available 
through Green Finance.

• Continue to explore new and innovative 
funding opportunities.

Page 72



Published September 2023 #2p2nkqy
Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



Programme Key pillars
Resilience/
mitigation

Progress 2022-2023 (June - June)
Links to strategies/

delivery plans

Embedding climate 

change across the 
organisation

1. Utilsing the climate change decision tools within Executive Member decisions, and for 

assessing the climate impacts of new projects across all directorates.

2. Using the Climate Change Group, consisting of senior managers across all directorates, 

to decide upon new programmes to deliver action on climate change, and assess 

performance.

3. Communications and engagement for County Council staff to understand how they can 

incorporate climate change considerations within their roles.

Mitigation & 

resilience

1. The decision tools sharepoint site have been visited 2,725 times by staff members. Lunchtime learning and other training sessions continued to be delivered 

across directorates.

2.  Key areas discussed and proposed at the Climate Change Group have included:  Business Case development for a Retrofit Programme; development of an 
Environment Strategy; a partnership with The Retrofit Academy to deliver retrofit skills and training in Hampshire colleges;  developing an approach to 

engaging with young people on climate change; developing a support pack for HCC teams to embed climate change into their BAU; reintroducing collective 

green energy switching .

3. A new e-learning about how staff can embed climate change considerations within their role is being developed, for launch later this year. A new project to 
support every team in the County Council to embed climate change as part of their business as usual has begun. The project aims to provide resources to allow 

bespoke climate change solutions to be developed at the team-level. Information and question prompts will allow teams to consider climate change in a 

workshop setting. Accountability will sit with Climate Change Group representatives for each directorate. 

These Strategic Programmes have been designed to deliver outcomes to reach our targets in 2050 and are therefore very long term and extensive in nature. As this is the first of the Frameworks to 2025 it mainly focuses on setting the foundations for these 

longer term programmes. Therefore many of the milestones will go beyond 2025, will overlap in terms of delivery, and will be interdependant. 

Transport

Decision-making (cross-cutting enabler)

https://www.hants.gov.uk/trans

port/localtransportplan

Department for Transport state they intend to issue new Loclal Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) guidance including a carbon reduction tool. HCC will seek to adopt our draft LTP4 which 

has been consulted on. 

Developing supplementary guidance documents for Development Control and Master Planning to better integrate land use and transport planning.

 

Development of a new pipeline of schemes with a new digital tool for anyone to raise transport problems.

 Are developing targets and a monitoring and evaluation plan, including a New Quantified Carbon Reduction (QCR) tool.

 

Adopted 8 Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plans.

 

Bid for LEVI funding to develop an electric vehicle infrastructure strategy and delivery of an action plan.

Have taken and agreed reports for Farnborough and Andover which reprioritise spaces in favour of sustainable modes and economic regeneration which was consulted on soon 

after.  

 

The County Council has been successful in achieving funding to deliver new demonstration active travel schemes. These are a new generation of schemes being designed to 

higher standards set by national Government.  

The County is embedding a Healthy Streets Framework, with over 100 staff who look after or improve our streets and spaces trained in how to apply the Framework. The 

framework can be used to help ensure the streets and spaces are easier to use by a range of users and that a better balance is made that widens the choices people can make 

about what type of transport they feel comfortable using.     

The County is approaching the final year of delivering the Transforming Cities Programme in partnership with Southampton and Portsmouth City Councils. These will see 

physical improvements completed on a number of transport corridors accessing the two cities. Measures include walking and cycling schemes as well as bus priority measures 

and bus interchanges. 

We have adopted the Bus Service Improvement Plan. Post-Covid the County Council continues to use its bus budgets to keep as many bus routes going following a reduction in 

demand and income for bus operators. We are actively encouraging bus use to help support and maintain services and have recently launched a campaign to do so which builds 

on the national £2 fare scheme.  

Climate Change Framework of Strategic Programmes 2020-2025
Carbon Mitigation and Climate Change Resilience

Mitigation and 

Resillience

1. Reduce dependency on the private car.

2. Plan our streets and spaces aound the needs of people and places.  
Local Transport 

Plan 4

P
age 75

https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan
https://www.hants.gov.uk/transport/localtransportplan


1.	A highway resilient network map has been developed and published on Hantsweb – Main aim of the resilient network is to maintain economic activity and access to key 

services during extreme weather and other disruptive events through prioritised and targeted maintenance.  This will need a review within 8 months to be linked and aligned 

with the winter routes which are also under review. 

2.	Highway asset dataset development

a.	Gully project to review frequencies underway (includes catchpits, weir kerbs etc.) – Aims to improve service efficiency with better scheduling, less journeys and reduced 

carbon.

b.	Gully sensor project – part of service efficiency work to reduce visits and disruption on the network.

c.	Web self service flood form updated. Data used in Confirm IT system to identify flooding sites. Data analysed in GIS to help identify and prioritise planned schemes and used 

to inform routine programme.

d.	Grass – Significant resources allocated to improve both urban/rural data – Allows informed decisions on frequencies etc.

 

3.	Surfacing guide review complete. Document going through formal approvals – the document provides guidance on the selection of surfacing materials and processes for 

highway maintenance works allowing engineers to specify safe, durable and environmentally appropriate options.

4.	Appropriate design standards for new cap infrastructure

a.	TGs - 28 out of 30 now complete - Intended to provide resilient designs specifying appropriate materials balancing cost and quality to minimise long term maintenance costs.

b.	Commuted sum policy implemented from 1st July - Aims to encourage the adoption of new sustainable developments / highway improvements by promoting the use of 

durable and sustainable materials.

c.	Combination of the above items will help to:

i.	ensure that new infrastructure is designed to be sustainable

ii.	deliver value for money by reducing the whole life costs of new assets.

iii.	reduce the carbon footprint of highway operations by minimising the need for future maintenance.

iv.	Ensure that new infrastructure is safe and designed to be resilient to the effects of climate change.

v.	limit disruption on the network and help improve journey times and air quality.

5.	Lifecycle and investment planning

a.	Lifecycle models now in place for CW, FW, Structures, and ITS – used to inform budgets and linked to Performance Management Framework – delivers cost-effective 

maintenance strategies to minimise whole life costs whilst achieving the required levels of service.

b.	Cross Asset Investment Plan developed and implemented – aims to ensure the best long term spend across all major assets. 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk

/highways/HighwaysAssetManag

ementStrategy.pdf

Highways 

Infrastructure 

(Management)

1.	Identify and map highway assets most at risk from weather fluctuations.

2.	Develop existing highway asset data sets to identify required maintenance 

interventions.

3.	Identify appropriate material treatment and/or mitigation measures.

4.	Identify appropriate design standards and materials for new capital infrastructure.

5.	Embed life cycle and investment planning across all assets to optimise resilience of the 

network. 

Resilience

P
age 76

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/highways/HighwaysAssetManagementStrategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/highways/HighwaysAssetManagementStrategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/highways/HighwaysAssetManagementStrategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/highways/HighwaysAssetManagementStrategy.pdf


Health co-benefits

Through the Health and Wellbeing Board, agree joint priorities between partners that 

both benefit health and mitigate climate change, including air quality, active travel, 

healthy homes: Review Hampshire Corporate Climate Change Strategy and Public Health 

actions / value adding opportunities

Resilience

Action on climate change and health through spatial planning and placemaking is embedded into ' Healthier Communities' theme of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

Following a series of workshops with the Town and Country Planning Association, an air quality group has been set up with District and Borough Councils to look at the planning 

response to air quality. 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/

ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&

MId=9936&Ver=4

Tackling heatlh 
Inequalities

Use a data-driven approach to identify the most significant inequalities in relation to 

climate change: Consider broader workforce and developing competence/confidence in 

climate change; Create short document including key reports, literature and e-learning for 

the benefit of Public Health shared learning; Scoping review and evidence summary on the 

health impacts of climate change

Resilience
The new Hampshire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment includes a chapter on place, with spatial mapping of air quality, heat vulnerability index and residential properties at risk 

of flooding.  This is publicly available. The Public Health team have been asked by various community organisations to present on climate change and public health.

https://www.hants.gov.uk/social

careandhealth/publichealth/pub

lichealthstrategy

Joint working with 
the NHS

Take a system approach to climate change, working with the NHS to identify shared 

priorities 
Resilience Hampshire County Council represented on Hampshire and Isle of Wight Sustainability Board.

Communication and 
engagement

1. Continuously develop behavioural insights research around climate change.

2. Develop annual communications and marketing plans to reach residents, based upon 

the climate change communications and marketing strategy.

3.  Supporting the Greening Campaign, with partners, to deliver a series of phased 

activites with communities, enabling them to make carbon savings.

Mitigation & 

resilience

1. More insights are being delivered with a particular focus on engaging youth with climate change information.

2. Digital adverts on climate resilience, spanning home insulation, preparedness to flooding and saving water, reached over 950,000 Hampshire residents. The 'swap one to 

local' campaign has also been refreshed, aimed at 18-24 year olds to swap fast fashion for second-hand. The climate change webpages have received over 19,113 unique views, 

and the climate change newsletter has gained over 1000 new subscribers.  

3. Thanks to a successful bid co-written by the Greening Campaign (GC) and the Climate Change team, just under £500,000 of National Lottery funding was awarded to the GC in 

April 2023. The funding will enable a course of activity over three years to help communities work together to address climate change across different areas. The climate change 

team will be using some of the funding to provide strategic support, and the waste prevention team are devising a new waste prevention information and activity pack for 

communities. 

Residential

Mitigation & 

resilience

1. Map energy efficiency of Hampshire's housing stock, understand potential for 

improvement and target energy efficiency solutions, ensuring resilience to overheating etc 

is considered.

2. Design retrofit programme, including resilience measures, making use of existing 

successful approaches (e.g. Energiesprong), and identifying potential pots of funding.  

3. Engage with net zero hubs to support delivery of retrofit for low income households.

4. Explore options to implement retrofit business case.

Hampshire-wide 
retrofit programme 

https://www.hants.gov.uk/retrof

it

1. No further mapping of Hampshire housing stock has taken place as the baseline was set in 2022. However, Parity software maintains up-to-date data and allows homeowners 

to self-correct any errors. Additionally, University of Southampton research into renewable generation potential found that 7% of Hampshire's energy needs can be met by 

rooftop solar.

2. Parity Projects have developed a business case for a self-sustaining business model that can deliver retrofit for the abl-to-pay market. This business case was based on the 

successfully operating Cosy Homes Oxfordshire scheme. The business case has been scrutinised by HCC financial and legal teams and is consdiered to be sound. The initial strat 

up costs of £500k remains a hurdle and conversations with private investors and potential partners are ongoing.

3. The Net Zero Hubs will continue to support district/borough councils in the roll-out of central government funding for low-income households.

4. A major stakeholder engagement event was convened in June 2023 with an outcome to establish a formal entity (consortium) to take the next steps towards implementation. 

The consortium will likely include district councils, advocate groups and training providers. The group will then take on the responsibility of securing the start up funding. 

P
age 77

https://www.hants.gov.uk/retrofit
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=9936&Ver=4
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=9936&Ver=4
https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=193&MId=9936&Ver=4
https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/publichealthstrategy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/publichealthstrategy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/socialcareandhealth/publichealth/publichealthstrategy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/retrofit
https://www.hants.gov.uk/retrofit


Strategic Planning 

to support 
resilience to climate 

change

1. Encourage local planning authorities to create an evidence base of existing green 

corridors as well as potential urban heat island.

2. Establishing a spatial framework to steer sustainable and resilient development, to 

include consideration of the impacts of climate change on development.

3. Encourage through the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Planning Officers' Group the 

development of guidance for planning authorities on how to leverage planning 

requirements to drive climate action that addresses resilience.

Resilience

 The County Council has been appointed as responsible authority to prepare the Local Nature Recovery Strategy as an important tool to promote environmental net gain. PfSH 

are now instead commissioning work in GI and green corridors across the sub-region. The Local Nature Recovery Strategy is emerging as a critical spatial strategy to shape 

development in accordance with climate change objectives.

Buildings & Infrastructure

Strategic Planning 

to support carbon 
reduction / 

sequestration

 Local Planning Authorities have been preparing for changes in the building regulations (namely Approved Document L, Conservation of fuel and power and its transitional 

arrangements).  For example in Eastleigh BC, the Local Plan condition requiring a % of reduction in carbon emissions has been superseded by the new minimum standards.  

These changes are stop-gap measures to improve energy efficiency in housing regulations ahead of the Future Homes and Buildings Standards introduction in 2025, which will 

require more significant cuts to carbon emissions.  LPAs such as Winchester CC have consulted on future-proofed local plan policy which exceeds building regulations to achieve 

a net zero carbon target (using the LETI modelling of operational and embodied carbon).  The impact on scheme viability of these standards combined with increased building 

costs should be monitored across Hampshire.  

Summary: Part L looks at the energy efficiency of properties, part F will look to improve ventilation and part O looks to ensure buildings don’t overheat.  Overheating is major 

consideration for occupier health and comfort of new dwellings.           

The Planning Data & Research team undertook a New Home Movers survey which asked about whether energy efficiency was part of the motivation to purchase a new 

property.  The team also plan to analyse Census datasets to improve statistical understanding of dwelling heating types and travel to work choices, and any trends across 

Hampshire since the last census.  

Hampshire County Council has been appointed as the responsible authority for preparation of Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) for Hampshire. The Strategy will be used to 

channel investment into local priorities for protection and enhancement, such as the Environment Land Management Scheme; map areas of opportunity for the use of ‘nature 

based solutions’ to wider environmental problems like flooding and climate change mitigation; guide mandatory biodiversity net gain investments; and provide a source of 

evidence for local planning authorities to help them understand the locations which are important for conserving and enhancing biodiversity.  

Mitigation

1. Working with the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Planning Officers' Group to develop a 

consistent approach with districts for setting energy efficiency levels on both domestic and 

commerical developments.

2. Working with the Hampshire & Isle of Wight Planning Officers' Group to develop 

practical guidance for planning authorities on how to leverage planning requirements to 

drive climate action.

3. Encourage land use planning that take into account carbon sequestration, renewables, 

nature, agriculture and promotes net environmental gain.

4.  Encourage local authorities within the county to use their planning and procurement 

powers to support the development of the zero carbon homes market in the region.

P
age 78



'Support and Scale' 

Community energy 
programme 

1. Work with Community Energy South and Hampshire-based CE groups to establish a 

community energy network in the county.

2. Take steps to build self-sufficient community energy groups that cover the full 

geographic extent of the county.

 3. Maximise the impact of the Revolving Community Energy Fund

Mitigation & 

resilience

1. Following the successful completion of the Community Renewal Fund funded project, HCC have funded Community Energy South (CES) for a further 2-year programme to 

maintain momentum. This programme has specific deliverables related to energy generation projects, energy advice, and training. Within two years the programme is expected 

to deliver at least four generation projects reaching share-offer status.

2. The current funding period requires CES to upskill the community groups to be able to be self sufficient and not reliant on outside support. This includes expertise on applying 

for funding as well as the legal toolkit to get projects off the ground.

3. Unlocking the potential of the Revloving Community Energy Fund is a key pillar of the current round of funding. Supporting groups to reach this stage through other 

mechanisms such as the Rural Communities Fund and the Parish and Town Council Investment Fund is being explored.

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landp

lanningandenvironment/environ

ment/climatechange/community

energy

1. Develop a Hampshire energy strategy to cover generation, distribution and efficiency. 

2. Engage Hampshire residents on energy issues, from efficiency to community renewable 

energy generation.

3. Continue to support installation of solar panels and batteries for Hampshire 

households. 

4. Liaise with LEP's, Local Net Zero Hubs etc to identify funding opportunities, partnerships 

and expertise.

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landp

lanningandenvironment/environ

ment/climatechange/whatarewe

doing/energy-distribution

Mitigation & 

resilience

Resilience

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landp

lanningandenvironment/environ

ment/flooding/strategies/catch

ment-management-plans

As the Lead Local Flood Authority, HCC has: 

Continued to engage with LPAs as the statutory consultee for surface water management on major developments 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/911812/surface-water-drainage-review.pdf

Relaunched Hampshire Strategic Flood and Water Management Board and convened aired Technical Delivery Group meetings involving representatives of risk management 

authorities including LPAs.

Published the new Catchment Plans 

Supported the preparation of a draft joint Leadership Statement for key stakeholders to promote improved surface water management.

 Responded to regional and national consultations including on water standards, water resources, Catchment Basin management Plans and Drainage and Wastewater 

Management Plans.

Working with Environment Agency on 2 year pilot programme for Property Flood Resilience.   

Flood risk 
management 

1. Engagement with district councils and developers regarding new developments on flood 

risk land.

Energy Generation & Distribution

Developing a local 
area energy 

strategy

1. The University of Southampton have completed a report into the technical and economic potential for renewable energy generation in Hampshire. This report found that 

ground-mounted solar and offshore wind had huge potential with well over 100% of Hampshire's energy demand being met if fully implemented. Tidal energy could provide 

baseload power, with a large suitable site identified of the southeast of the Isle of Wight. A second report into grid constraints is due later in 2023. These reports are not 

desgined as a business case for energy projects but are designed as the starting point for a portfolio of investment opportunities in energy in Hampshire.

2. As well as ongoing energy advice from The Environment Centre, five community energy groups are engaging with residents and helping people save money during the cost-of-

living crisis. The Greening Campaign also has energy efficiency as a key pillar of its behaviour change model.

3. The second iteration of the Solar Together Scheme saw a 4-fold increase in demand with over 1,400 installations being completed from a smaller marketing campaign. The 

2022 scheme achieved a 15% average discount compared to the typical market price, and will see the reduction of approximately 30,000 tonnes of carbon over 25 years. The 

third scheme launched in August 2023.

4. The Net Zero Hubs are supporting communication with the DNO on the development of a Local Area Energy Plan. The University of Southampton research will support this, 

particularly around the grid constraints. Current government advice on LAEPS is unclear and there remains no clarity on whose role it is to develop these.

P
age 79

https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies/catchment-management-plans
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/energy-distribution
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/communityenergy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/communityenergy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/communityenergy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/communityenergy
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/energy-distribution
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/energy-distribution
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/energy-distribution
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/climatechange/whatarewedoing/energy-distribution
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies/catchment-management-plans
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies/catchment-management-plans
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies/catchment-management-plans
https://www.hants.gov.uk/landplanningandenvironment/environment/flooding/strategies/catchment-management-plans


Work with districts 
within Hampshire 

Waste Partnership 
to transition 

towards a carbon-

driven waste 
system

Consistent recycling collections due to be introduced nationally from 2023. Mitigation

Delivery of the Environment Act has been delayed by the impact of COVID-19, and the current deadline nationally has been pushed back to 2025. Hampshire remains on track to 

deliver on this legislation with planning permission secured for a new Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) in Eastleigh to sort the new container mix, and districts working towards 

introducing a twin-stream collection service to complement the infrastructure investment. 

Implementation of statutory food waste collections have been similarly delayed; currently only 3 of 13 WCAs and Unitaries collect food separately. Capacity to manage food 

waste through anaerobic digestion is still limited in Hampshire. The Project Integra Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy has been updated and all partners are working 

towards developing a new legally-binding Inter-Authority Agreement.

Work with districts 
within Hampshire 

Waste Partnership 

to create a more 
resilient waste 

system

1. Identify critical points of vulnerability in the waste collection and treatment process.

2. Identify where circular practices and principles can be adopted or adapted to reduce 

their exposures. This includes looking at potential synergies and efficiencies across district 

boundaries.

Resilience

A new waste strategy for Hampshire remains in development, however has been subject to delays externally due to delays to legislative guidance and developing partnership 

approach through Project Integra. 

The Smart Living waste prevention programme remains high profile with key strands focusing on food waste, composting, furniture reuse, reusable nappies and, from 2023, 

textiles (fast fashion). 

The Waste Prevention Grant Fund has now supported more than 100 projects countywide to help their communities reduce waste.

Effective partnership working 

with Project Integra -

 

https://democracy.hants.gov.uk/

documents/s81999/Appendix.pd

f 

Resilience

Hampshire County Council has been appointed as the responsible authority for preparation of Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) for Hampshire. The Strategy will be used to 

channel investment into local priorities for protection and enhancement, such as the Environment Land Management Scheme; map areas of opportunity for the use of ‘nature 

based solutions’ to wider environmental problems like flooding and climate change mitigation; guide mandatory biodiversity net gain investments; and provide a source of 

evidence for local planning authorities to help them understand the locations which are important for conserving and enhancing biodiversity.   

Initial stakeholder engagement on the LNRS has taken place, and the strategy will be presented to Cabinet for approval in approximately 18 months’ time. 

Work is ongoing through a newly formed strategic natural environment working group, bringing together key stakeholders across the County Council to ensure that the wide 

range of activities taking place across the Council on the natural environment are brought together to maximise effort and avoid duplication. Areas covered include external 

partnerships and boards, biodiversity net gain and local nature recovery strategy, water & coast and commercial & green finance.  The working group is seeking to understand 

the potential for all HCC landholdings to meet Biodiversity Net Gain and mitigation requirements, develop a coastal asset strategy (2050) to understand risks, and explore green 

finance opportunities in relation to nature recovery. 

The Hampshire Forest Partnership was launched in December 2022, which aims to encourage tree planting across Hampshire, give advice and guidance on planting the right 

trees in the right places, share the positive ways tree planting helps the environment, and gives communities what they need to get involved in tree planting activities. The 

Hampshire Forest Partnership aims align with the County Council’s Tree Strategy which was published in 2020. 

Preparation for roll-out of mandatory Biodiversity Net Gain.

Participation in the Environmental Land Management Convenor Partnership has continued, alongside being a member and contributor at Hampshire and Isle of Wight Local 

Nature Partnership and South East Nature Partnership.

See also Strategic Planning section above.  

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hamp

shireforestpartnership

Waste & circular economy

Natural envrionment

Green 

infrastructure / 

carbon 

sequestration 
opportunities

1. Understand the role of green infrastructure in reducing climate impacts (e.g minimising 

flooding and overheating) and agree a monitoring and measurement framework.

2. Maximise appropriate opportunities for tree planting, rewilding, and biodiversity net 

gain etc to support benefits such as habitat creation and flood management.

P
age 80

https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshireforestpartnership
https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshireforestpartnership
https://www.hants.gov.uk/hampshireforestpartnership


https://documents.hants.gov.uk

/business/hampshire-economic-

strategy.pdf

https://www.thesolentcluster.co

m/about/project-plan/

https://find-employer-

schemes.education.gov.uk/sche

mes/skills-bootcamps

https://wpieconomics.com/publi

cations/green-skills-demand-in-

surrey-and-north-mid-

hampshire/

Business & green economy

The Council is using the Government’s flagship Skills Bootcamps programme to directly commission a range of training courses in low carbon construction, retrofit and green 

transport skills to meet the identified needs of the sectors. Over 200 courses will be delivered by local providers in this financial year, with an ambition to extend the scope and 

reach of the programme in future years subject to funding.  

The Council has been working with Hampshire and Surrey Chambers of Commerce to develop Local Skills Improvement Plans which work with employers to identify skills gaps 

and support the local provider network to develop their provision to address these needs. These reports have been instrumental in helping us to better understand the breadth 

and depth of the skills needed to support the low carbon economy in our area and to focus future investment through the Local Skills Improvement Fund. 

A multi-million-pound investment from the Department for Education’s Strategic Development Fund (SDF), predecessor to the Local Skills Improvement Fund (LSIF), has been 

used to support the development of green skills infrastructure across the county. 

Mitigation
1. Engage with businesses to develop a Hampshire-wide retrofit programme and to idenify 

necessary skills to deliver.

Developing Green 

Skills

The Council’s Economic Strategy recognises the importance of protecting the environment as the economy grows. An Action Plan is being developed to support the Strategy, 

with the Environment and Climate Change identified as a key theme. 

Economic Development have been working with partner organisations, including supporting Enterprise M3 LEP with their Jet Zero cluster - understanding the sector’s strengths 

and challenges, and where there are opportunities for achieving net zero in the aviation sector. 

With the Farnborough Airport Consortium around Future Flight, the Council has joint-hosted round table events to connect businesses within the supply chain to discuss future 

needs of the aviation industry, greening its supply chain as well as operations.  

Economic Development are also working with partners such as the LEP’s, freeports and membership organisations around their climate change and environment agendas and 

understanding where further support and enabling can be delivered to support their goals in supporting businesses to decarbonise. There are also opportunities to look at the 

gaps left in the funding landscape to support climate change development of business post LOCASE and the Leader EU funded programmes. Economic Development advised 

Enterprise M3 LEP on the latest round of the Future Fund.

The County Council is a signatory to the Solent Cluster Charter. The Solent Cluster is a collaboration of industry leaders, global organisations, universities and local government 

working together to create a low carbon future. 

Mitigation

1. Working with businesses etc, including those in rural areas, to understand the 

opportunites to develop a green economy in Hampshire.
Clean green, 

resilient economy 

for SME's.

P
age 81

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/business/hampshire-economic-strategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/business/hampshire-economic-strategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/business/hampshire-economic-strategy.pdf
https://documents.hants.gov.uk/business/hampshire-economic-strategy.pdf
https://www.thesolentcluster.com/about/project-plan/
https://www.thesolentcluster.com/about/project-plan/
https://www.thesolentcluster.com/about/project-plan/
https://find-employer-schemes.education.gov.uk/schemes/skills-bootcamps
https://find-employer-schemes.education.gov.uk/schemes/skills-bootcamps
https://find-employer-schemes.education.gov.uk/schemes/skills-bootcamps
https://wpieconomics.com/publications/green-skills-demand-in-surrey-and-north-mid-hampshire/
https://wpieconomics.com/publications/green-skills-demand-in-surrey-and-north-mid-hampshire/
https://wpieconomics.com/publications/green-skills-demand-in-surrey-and-north-mid-hampshire/
https://wpieconomics.com/publications/green-skills-demand-in-surrey-and-north-mid-hampshire/


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Climate Change Annual 

Report 

30th November 2023
Gary Westbrook, Director Hampshire 2050

Chitra Nadarajah, Head of Climate Change and Environment 

Strategy

P
age 83



Introduction
Progress made on the Climate Change Corporate Programme over the 
reporting period July 2022 to July 2023.

The report provides an update on: 

• new priorities and focus for Hampshire County Council 

• baseline emissions 

• updates on key programmes within the Strategic Framework

• networks and partnerships

• communications and marketing 

• engagement activities 

P
age 84



New priorities and focus for Hampshire 
County Council 
Move from Action Plan to focussing on the Strategic Framework

The creation of the Hampshire 2050 directorate provided an opportunity to review the existing 
internal arrangements for delivering against the Climate Change Strategy through the Action 
Plan and Strategic Framework.

• Action Plan now part of business as usual and in many cases forms part of directorate 
reporting processes.

• The Strategic Framework established as the focus of the climate change activity that will 
deliver the biggest impacts.

Agreed 

• the Strategic Framework would be the main focus of the Climate Change Programme 
going forward

• reporting on the Action Plan would no longer form part of the annual reporting cycle

P
age 85



New priorities and focus for Hampshire 
County Council 

The primary areas of focus for 2023 onwards are: 

• working on the delivery of the outward-facing elements of the Strategic Framework

• focus on supporting our residents through behaviour change and building 
resilience

• continue to build on the strategic leadership, influencing, enabling, and advocacy 
role

• supporting corporate join-up and the embedding of climate change into business 
as usual across the County Council

P
age 86



New priorities and focus for Hampshire 
County Council 

Embedding climate change across the County Council remains a key priority. 

• Climate Change Group

• Decision Tools

• New E-Learning 

• New embedding programme to support teams

P
age 87



Baseline emissions 
Between 2019 and 2021 there was an overall reduction in Hampshire’s territorial emissions 

of 7.3%, resulting in a cumulative reduction of 46% since 2005. Included in this figure is 

carbon sequestration, which was 0.5% higher in 2021 than in 2019. 

P
age 88



Strategic Framework

Residential 

• The Greening Campaign
• £500,000 National Lottery Funding

• Building a Community Energy Network
• There is 2MW of community energy in various stages of development across the county. 

• The Environment Centre 
• The new website received 42,395 visitors in the 8 months since its launch in November 

2022 - 12-fold increase on the previous 12 months.

P
age 89



Strategic Framework

Residential 

Solar Together Bulk Buying Scheme 

• Over 2,100 households have received solar panels through the schemes, via the 
installation of 7,400kw of rooftop solar power, which has the capacity to save an 
estimated 46,000 tonnes of carbon emissions. 

• The 2022 scheme achieved a 15% average discount compared to the typical market 
price.

Retrofit Programme 

• Stakeholder engagement event was convened in June 2023 with an outcome to establish 
a formal entity (consortium) to take the next steps towards implementation.

P
age 90



Strategic Framework

Transport 

• Programme of works underway to design and deliver new demonstration active travel 
schemes. 

• 100 staff who look after or improve our streets and spaces have been trained in how to 
apply the Framework

• The Bus Service Improvement Plan has also been adopted, alongside 8 Local Cycling and 
Walking Implementation Plans. 

• Supplementary guidance documents are also being developed for Development Control 
and Master Planning to better integrate land use and transport planning. 

• A highway resilience network map has been developed and published. The main aim of a 
resilient network is to maintain economic activity and access to key services during extreme 
weather and other disruptive events through prioritised and targeted maintenance. 

P
age 91



Strategic Framework

Hampshire Energy Evidence & Research

University of Southampton began work on two further pieces of work to understand 

• the future potential of renewable energy generation in Hampshire and 

• the technical and economic constraints to delivering change. 

Business and Green Economy 

• Using the Government’s flagship Skills Bootcamps programme to directly commission a 
range of training courses in low carbon construction, retrofit and green transport skills to 
meet the identified needs of the sectors

• Working with Hampshire and Surrey Chambers of Commerce to develop Local Skills 
Improvement Plans to better understand the breadth and depth of the skills needed to 
support the low carbon economy in our area and to focus future investment through the 
Local Skills Improvement Fund. 

P
age 92



Strategic Framework

Economic Strategy
• Supporting Enterprise M3 LEP with their Jet Zero cluster, and understanding the sector’s strengths 

and challenges, and where there are opportunities for achieving net zero in the aviation sector

• Working with partners such as the LEPs, freeports, and membership organisations around their 
climate change and environment agendas and understanding where further support and enabling can 
be delivered

Natural Environment 
• Progressing the Local Nature Recovery Strategy

• Understanding the potential for all County Council landholdings to meet Biodiversity Net Gain and 
mitigation requirements 

• Developing a coastal asset strategy (2050) to understand risks 

• Exploring green finance opportunities in relation to nature recovery 

• The Hampshire Forest Partnership also been launched (December 2022)

P
age 93



Strategic Framework

Waste and Circular Economy

• The Waste Prevention Grant Fund has now supported more than 100 projects countywide 
to help their communities reduce waste.

Buildings & Infrastructure and Public Health  

• Climate change and health through spatial planning and placemaking is embedded into the 
‘Healthier Communities' theme of the Health and Wellbeing Board.   

Flood and Water Management 

• Working with the Environment Agency on a 2-year pilot programme for Property Flood 
Resilience. 

P
age 94



Networks and partnerships

Climate Change Expert Forum

National, Regional and Local PartnershipsP
age 95



Communications and marketing 
Targeted campaigns on resilience and “Swap one to Local” campaigns focused on 
second hand clothes targeting younger audiences.

Between July 2022 and June 2023, there have been 19,113 unique views of the 
climate change webpages.

The ‘make your home resilient to climate change’ page has been created. Over the 
last year, this page has received 1,713 unique views.

Four email newsletters have been created.

P
age 96



Engagement activities 

Youth Engagement 

Two workshops with 17, 18–24-year-olds were delivered in July 2023 in Eastleigh and 
Basingstoke. There was an even gender split, with 6 participants from ethnic minority 
backgrounds, and a mix of urban/suburban and rural participants.

In July 2023 a Climate Unity Conference was held, which offered children and young people 
the opportunity to work alongside their peers from across county and to engage in a series of 
workshops to develop their understanding of climate and environmental issues.

P
age 97



Engagement activities 

• The New Forest Show. Three days of direct engagement with over 350 residents.

• Retrofit business case stakeholder event attended by over 60 people representing 

organisations from up and down the retrofit supply chain.

• Planet Petersfield. Engaged with families and local green groups.

• Parish Engagement event to promote ways for parishes to become involved in climate 

action. Attended by over 50 parish representatives.

• Winning the Regen Green Energy Award for Public Sector Local Leadership.

• A case study for Ashden into the Council’s Year of Climate Resilience.

• A case study for the LGA on how to develop a retrofit scheme for private residents.

P
age 98



Summary & Next Steps

The primary focus for 2023 onwards is: 

• Working on the delivery of the outward facing elements of the Strategic Framework.

• Focus on supporting our residents through behaviour change and building resilience. 

• Continue to build on the strategic leadership, influencing, enabling and advocacy role.

• Supporting corporate join-up and the embedding of climate change into business as usual 
across the organisation.

Based on the research and analysis undertaken over the last 24 months the key areas 
identified as priorities going forward continue to be residential emissions, energy, 
behaviour change and engagement

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Decision Report 
 
Committee: Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources 

Select Committee 

Date: 30 November 2023 

Title: Establishment of a Task and Finish Working Group for 
Directorate SP25 Proposals Requiring a Stage 2 
Consultation 

Report From: Director of Hampshire 2050  

Contact name:  Gary Westbrook 

Email: Gary.westbrook@hants.gov.uk   

Purpose of this Report 

1. The purpose of this report is to propose the establishment of a Task and 
Finish Working Group for the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and 
Resources Select Committee for Directorate SP25 proposals requiring a 
stage 2 Consultation. 

Recommendations 

2. That the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 
Committee: 

• sets up a Task and Finish Working Group to oversee and scrutinise the 
approach and outcomes of the County Council’s stage 2 consultation 
relating to specific Hampshire 2050 Directorate savings proposals; 

• agrees the Terms of Reference for the Working Group, as set out in 
Appendix A; and 

• agrees the membership of the Working Group. 

Contextual information 

3. The Budget Consultation 2024-2026 Making the Most of Your Money, 
published in June 2023, proposed a number of reductions in Hampshire 2050 
and Corporate Services budgets, approved by Full County Council on 9 
November 2023. Two proposals are identified as requiring Stage 2 
consultations: 

Page 101

Agenda Item 8



 

• Hampshire Cultural Trust Management Funding Agreement: Review 
of grant funding provided to Hampshire Cultural Trust under a formal 
Management and Funding Agreement; and 

• Centrally administered competitive grants: A review and consolidation 
of existing centrally administered competitive grant schemes which 
provide one-off grants to a range of community groups and organisations. 

Proposal 

4. In accordance with the County Council’s scrutiny arrangements conducted by 
the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee, it 
is proposed to set up a Task and Finish Working Group to give an opportunity 
to see the finalised stage 2 consultation documents, receive updates on the 
consultation process and coverage for engagement of key stakeholders, and 
provide feedback on the presentation of the findings of the Stage 2 
Consultation process. 

5. Proposed terms of reference are included in Appendix A, setting out the role, 
purpose, objectives, outcomes and proposed membership of the working 
group. 

Next Steps 

6. Following confirmed nominations in accordance with the membership set out 
in the terms of reference, it is proposed that the working group will hold an 
initial meeting on 22 December 2023 to review the finalised consultation 
document (and to also understand the timeline for reviewing) and make 
recommendations on the outcomes of the planned formal public consultation.  

 
 
 

 
 

 

Page 102



 

 

Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee   
TASK AND FINISH WORKING GROUP ON THE DIRECTORATE SP25 

PROPOSALS THAT REQUIRE A STAGE 2 CONSULTATION.  
 

TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

1. Introduction 
1.1 This Task and Finish Working Group is being established to assist the 

Hampshire 2050 Directorate in the formulation of its SP25 Proposals and 
the related Stage 2 Consultations. 

2. Role and Purpose of the Task and Finish Working Group 
2.1 The Task and Finish Working Group is a working group of the Hampshire 

2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select (Overview and Scrutiny) 
Committee and is appointed in accordance with the Constitution of 
Hampshire County Council. 

2.2 The Task and Finish Working Group’s purpose is to assist the Directorate 
in the formulation of the following SP25 Proposals which require a Stage 2 
Consultation: 
2.2.1 Hampshire Cultural Trust Management Funding Agreement: 

Review of grant funding provided to Hampshire Cultural Trust under 
a formal Management and Funding Agreement. 

2.2.2 Centrally administered competitive grants: A review and 
consolidation of existing centrally administered competitive grant 
schemes which provide one-off grants to a range of community 
groups and organisations.   

 
2.3 The Task and Finish Working Group will assist the Directorate by giving 

feedback on the overall approach to engagement with key stakeholder 
groups and will review and provide feedback on the presentation of the 
outcome of the Stage 2 Consultation process.  
 

2.4 The Task and Finish Working Group will provide a report on its activities to 
the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select (Overview 
and Scrutiny) Committee for consideration. 

3. Objectives 
3.1 To support the Directorate with the approach to engagement and 

consultation with key stakeholder groups. 
3.2 To review feedback from engagement and formal public consultation with 

a wide range of stakeholders, in relation to the Directorate Stage 2 
Consultations listed above.  

3.3 To consider and provide comment on impact assessments. 

4. Outcomes 

Page 103



 

 

4.1 To provide updates to the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and 
Resources Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee on the progress of 
the SP25 Proposals listed above and the Stage 2 Consultation. 

4.2 To provide feedback regarding the SP25 Proposals and Stage 2 
Consultation to the Directorate.  

4.3 To submit a report to the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and 
Resources Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee to be considered 
alongside any Officer Recommendations before the Committee for pre-
decision scrutiny. 

5. Method 
5.1 The Task and Finish Working Group will meet with Directorate officers to 

consider the evidence leading to recommendations for decisions on the 
proposed savings proposals.  

5.2 At each meeting, the Task and Finish Working Group will provide feedback 
to Officers on the stated objectives of the review. 

5.3 Where the Task and Finish Working Group reasonably requires further 
information in order to meet its objectives such information will be provided 
by Officers. 

6. Membership 
6.1 The Task and Finish Working Group shall be a cross party group made up 

of Members of the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources 
Select (Overview and Scrutiny) Committee consisting of a total of 8 
Members: 

• 5 Conservative Group; 

• 2 Liberal Democrat Group; 

• 1 Labour Group or Independent Group. 
 

7. Meetings 
7.1 The Working Group will hold an initial meeting to review the finalised 

consultation document and to also understand the timeline for reviewing 
and making recommendations on the outcomes of the planned formal 
public consultation. 

7.2 At its initial meeting the Task and Finish Working Group shall appoint a 
Chairman from among its Members. 

7.3 The Task and Finish Working Group will meet after the Stage 2 
Consultation to provide feedback to Officers and to agree its report to the 
Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select (Overview and 
Scrutiny) Committee. The content of the Report will be agreed by 
consensus. 

7.4 Meetings of the Task and Finish Working Group can be either in person, 
remote or hybrid. 

Page 104



 

 

7.5 Following the submission of the Report the Task and Finish Working Group 
will cease to exist. 

8. Code of Conduct 
8.1 Elected Members of the Working Group shall comply with the Hampshire 

County Council’s Code of Conduct for Members. 

 

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

Report 
 
Committee: Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select 

Committee 

Date: 30 November 2023 

Title: Work Programme 

Report From: Director of People and Organisation 

Contact name: Louise Barker 

  Email: louise.barker2@hants.gov.uk 

Purpose of the Report  

1. The purpose of this item is to provide the work programme of future topics to be 
considered by this Select Committee and discuss any other items that may need 
to be added. 

Recommendation 

2. That the Select Committee discusses and agrees potential items for the work 
programme that can be prioritised and allocated by the Chairman of the 
Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee in 
consultation with the Directors of Corporate Operations, Hampshire 2050 and 
People and Organisation. 
 

 
 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



 

REQUIRED CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION: 
 

Links to the Strategic Plan 
 
Hampshire maintains strong and sustainable economic 
growth and prosperity: 

yes 

People in Hampshire live safe, healthy and independent 
lives: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy a rich and diverse 
environment: 

yes 

People in Hampshire enjoy being part of strong, 
inclusive communities: 

Yes 

 
 
 
 
Section 100 D - Local Government Act 1972 - background documents 
  
The following documents discuss facts or matters on which this report, or an 
important part of it, is based and have been relied upon to a material extent in 
the preparation of this report. (NB: the list excludes published works and any 
documents which disclose exempt or confidential information as defined in 
the Act.) 
 
Document Location 
None  

Page 108



 

EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT: 
 

1. Equality Duty 
 
The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the 
Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to: 
 

- Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct 
prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set 
out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation); 
- Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation) and those who do not share it; 
- Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do 
not share it. 

 
Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to: 

- The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 
- Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
- Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 
public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionally low. 

 
2. Equalities Impact Assessment: 
 
This is a scrutiny review document setting out the work programme of the Committee. 
It does not therefore make any proposals which will impact on groups with protected 
characteristics. 
 
3. Climate Change Impact Assessment: 
 
This is a scrutiny review document setting out the work programme of the Committee. 
It does therefore not make any proposals which will impact on climate change. 
 

Page 109



 

WORK PROGRAMME – HAMPSHIRE 2050, CORPORATE SERVICES AND RESOURCES SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 

Topic Issue Reason for inclusion Status and Outcomes 

22
 J

an
 2

02
4 

27
 J

un
e 

20
24

 

12
 S

ep
t 2

02
4 

24
 O

ct
 2

02
4 

23
 J

an
 2

02
5 

Pre-
scrutiny  
 
 

Consideration of 
revenue budgets for 
H2050 and 
Corporate Services 

To pre-scrutinise the 
budget proposals, prior 
to approval by the 
Executive Member 
 

Considered annually in 
advance of Council in 
February. Saving Proposals 
pre-scrutiny alternate years 
at Sept meeting. 
 

X     

Budget 
Monitoring 
 

 
 

(a) End of Year 
Financial Report 
considered at 
summer meeting, 
to see how the 
budget was 
managed for the 
year compared to 
plan.  

 
(b) Medium Term 

Financial Strategy 
– considered when 
appropriate to 
provide longer 
term financial 
context 

 

Last considered October 
2022 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Last considered October 
2022 

     

P
age 110



 

Topic Issue Reason for inclusion Status and Outcomes 

22
 J

an
 2

02
4 

27
 J

un
e 

20
24

 

12
 S

ep
t 2

02
4 

24
 O

ct
 2

02
4 

23
 J

an
 2

02
5 

Overview 
(annual) 

Serving Hampshire - 
2023/24 Year End 
Performance Report 

To monitor how 
performance is 
managed corporately 
and consider the 
performance 
information to support 
identification of areas 
to focus scrutiny. 
 

  X    

         
Overview 
(annual) 
 

Crime & Disorder 
 
Duty to review, 
scrutinise, and 
report on the 
decisions made, 
and actions taken 
by ‘responsible 
authorities’ under 
the Crime and 
Disorder Act. 

This duty passed from 
the Safe & Healthy 
People Select 
Committee to this 
committee in May 
2014 

Annual update on work of 
Hampshire Community 
Safety Strategy Group plus 
particular focus topic:  
Child Exploitation - Nov 
2018  
Reducing Serious 
Violence - Nov 2019 
County Lines – Nov 2021 
Restorative justice – Nov 
2022 
 
 

   X  

Overview 
(annual) 

Collation of 
Annual Report of 
Select Committees 
activity 
 

The Constitution 
requires that this 
committee report to 
Full Council annually 
providing a summary 

Annual report to this 
meeting (summer) for 
submission to Full Council in 
Autumn  

 X    

P
age 111



 

Topic Issue Reason for inclusion Status and Outcomes 

22
 J

an
 2

02
4 

27
 J

un
e 

20
24

 

12
 S

ep
t 2

02
4 

24
 O

ct
 2

02
4 

23
 J

an
 2

02
5 

To support oversight 
of the scrutiny 
function, and the 
role of this 
committee to ensure 
scrutiny activity is 
having impact and 
being evaluated.  
 

of the activity of the 
select committees 

Overview Scrutiny Protocol  First considered in Nov 
2022 - Cttee agreed to 
review on an annual basis 

     

Overview  
 

Local Enterprise 
Partnerships 

Requested by 
Chairman  

Introductory presentation 
Nov 2018. Chief Executive 
of both LEPs gave a 
presentation to Nov 2020 
meeting.  
 
Retain for future meeting. 

     

 
Potential future items:  

• Solent Cluster presentation on decarbonisation  
• Learning, Skills, Improvement Plan (LSIP)  

 

P
age 112


	Agenda
	The press and public are welcome to attend the public sessions of the meeting. If you have any particular requirements, for example if you require wheelchair access, please contact members.services@hants.gov.uk for assistance.

	3 Minutes of previous meeting
	Minutes

	6 Hampshire Community Safety Strategy Group
	Climate Change Impact Assessment
	23.	  Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience impacts of its projects and decisions. These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:


	7 Climate Change Annual Report
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Report
	Purpose of Report
	1.	For the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee to pre-scrutinise the progress that has been made from July 2022 – July 2023 on Climate Change (see report attached due to be considered at the Cabinet meeting at 2.00pm on 12 December).

	Recommendation
	Either:
	Supports the recommendation being proposed to the Cabinet in paragraph 2. of the attached report.
	Or:
	Agrees any alternative recommendations to the Cabinet, with regards to the proposals set out in the attached report.


	7i Climate Change Annual Report-2023-12-12-Cabinet
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on progress on Climate Change over the last 12 months, highlighting some key areas of delivery and set out plans for the year ahead.

	Recommendation
	2.	That Cabinet approves the annual update on progress on Climate Change over the last 12 months from July 2022 to July 2023.

	Executive Summary
	3.	This paper seeks to
		set out the progress that has been made on climate change over the past 12 months, from July 2022 to July 2023;
		provide an update on the priorities for the climate change programme following the corporate restructure in January 2023;
		provide an update on progress on embedding climate change across Hampshire County Council;
		provide an update on progress with the implementation of the Strategic Framework including some highlights and case studies showcasing best practice on actions and programmes to reduce emissions and build resilience across key sectors;
		provide an update on Networks & Partnerships, Communications & Marketing;
		provide an update on the climate change budget; and
		set out the areas of focus for the next 12 months.

	Contextual information
	Delivering against the Climate Change Strategy during the past year

	4.	In July 2020, the Climate Change Strategy was approved by Cabinet, where it was also agreed that annual progress reports would be prepared.
	5.	To ensure delivery against the Strategy both an action plan and strategic framework were developed. It has been two years since the action plan and the strategic framework were established and progress on these have been reported on in previous reports.
	6.	In January 2023, following the restructure, the Council’s role on climate change was re-defined to reflect the need to ensure that the Council’s resources are used for maximum impact. As most major sources of emissions are beyond the control of the Council, a primary function of the climate change programme is to influence, advocate for, and facilitate action by others through partnership working and establishing the necessary frameworks and strategies.
	7.	In line with this it was agreed that the strategic framework would now become the main focus of the climate change programme going forward as it represents the key strategic priorities that will be essential to meeting our targets and embedded into plans, actions and activities of both Directorates and the wider organisation. With regards to the action plan, in the main, actions are now part of business as usual and in many cases form part of directorate reporting processes.
	8.	It was therefore agreed by the Corporate Management Team in February 2023 that reporting on the action plan would no longer form part of the annual reporting cycle, ensuring resources are focused on the strategic framework and there will continue to be a focus on ensuring that climate change is embedded into business as usual, across all Directorates. This will be delivered through the Climate Change Group (previously Board) and the climate change team.
	9.	When Cabinet adopted the strategic framework, it was agreed that the framework should be under continuous review to ensure it remains fit for purpose and is a “living document”.  As such, the strategic framework continues to be updated and reviewed, particularly in light of the changes set out, to ensure that the focus of the strategic framework is fit for purpose and that there is better representation from across the Council. For example, areas such as education, inclusion and skills which are critical to tackling climate change will feature more prominently.
	Annual Report July 2022-2023

	10.	The Annual Report (appended) is the third annual report since 2020 and covers progress made between July 2022 and July 2023.
	11.	The Annual Report covers a number of sections to highlight the progress made in the last 12 months. These are set out below:
	Corporate awareness and accountability on climate change This covers the work that has been done on supporting staff within the County Council to ensure climate change is part of the DNA of the organisation. This section covers the work of the Climate Change Group (previously Board), the mandatory Decision Tools, e-learning update and ongoing work to support teams across the council to embed climate change.
	The focus of the work of the strategic framework is on the Hampshire area which accounts for approximately 98% of the emissions, however, it is important that we continue to track our own emissions.  This work is led by Universal Services and has a separate reporting cycle (see Greenhouse gas emissions | About the Council | Hampshire County Council (hants.gov.uk)).
	Strategic Framework. This forms the main part of the report and focuses on the Strategic Framework. Highlights on some of the key priority programmes on Residential, Transport, Energy Generation & Distribution, Green Economy, Natural Environment, Buildings & Infrastructure are set out in this section of the report. Highlights include:
		continued successful delivery of the Greening Campaign in Hampshire including below highlights:
	o	Phase 1 - 14 communities participated with a combined annual saving of £199,651, and an estimated 379.5 tonnes of CO2 based upon taking carbon-saving actions at home.
	o	Phase 2 - 10 communities signed up across Winchester, New Forest, Basingstoke, East Hampshire and Gosport. 14,307.10m2 of land was improved as part of the make space for nature pillar, surpassing the target.
		helping to secure approximately £500,000 for the Greening Campaign from the National Lottery which will ensure the programme will continue to be delivered across Hampshire for the next three years without relying on funding from Hampshire County Council;
		continuing the successful delivery of Solar Together schemes which, since 2021, has helped 2,100 households secure solar panels, resulting in the installation of 7,400kw of rooftop solar power, which has the capacity to save an estimated 46,000 tonnes of carbon emissions;
		development of a viable and bespoke business case for an area-wide retrofit scheme;
		completion of the first stage of research with University of Southampton into the renewable energy potential in Hampshire to meet our energy needs;
		the Bus Service Improvement Plan has also been adopted, alongside 8 Local Cycling and Walking Implementation Plans;
		Post Covid the County Council continues to use its bus budgets to keep as many bus routes going following a reduction in demand and income for bus operators;
		over 100 staff who look after or improve our streets and spaces have been trained in how to apply the Healthy Streets Framework;
		successful in securing funding for a programme of works to design and deliver new demonstration active travel schemes;
		bid for Local Electric Vehicle Infrastructure (LEVI) funding has been submitted;
		continuing to work in partnership with The Retrofit Academy to increase local delivery of courses for retrofit skills including understanding retrofit, adviser, assessor, and co-ordinators and to understand better the current state of retrofit skills in Hampshire;
		using the Government’s flagship Skills Bootcamps programme to directly commission a range of training courses in low carbon construction, retrofit and green transport skills to meet the identified needs of the sectors;
		working with Hampshire and Surrey Chambers of Commerce to develop Local Skills Improvement Plans helping the County Council  to better understand the breadth and depth of the skills needed to support the low carbon economy in its area and to focus future investment through the Local Skills Improvement Fund;
		the Hampshire Forest Partnership launched;
		the Waste Prevention Grant Fund has now supported more than 100 projects countywide to help their communities reduce waste;
		the Hampshire Minerals & Waste Plan: Partial Update is currently being developed. The Draft Plan includes a strengthened Climate Change Policy which requires all applications to include a Climate Change Assessment;
		action on climate change and health through spatial planning and placemaking has been embedded into the ‘Healthier Communities' theme of the Health and Wellbeing Board; and
		the Flood and Water Management team is working with the Environment Agency on a 2-year pilot programme for Property Flood Resilience.
	Year of Climate Resilience 2022
	Networks and Partnerships This section provides an update on Expert Forum and also covers activity and collaboration with local, regional and national partners and networks, to learn from, share best practice and to promote Hampshire’s leadership approach. Some of the highlights from the past 12 months are provided below:
		attendance at the Green Finance Training sessions run by CIPFA and ADEPT; and
		invited to be a member Net Zero Hub Steering Group and the Local Government Association Climate Action Group.
	Communications and Marketing This outlines the insights-led behaviour change programmes to engage residents.
		between July 2022 and June 2023, there have been 19,113 unique views of the climate change webpages;
		the new webpage, ‘make your home resilient to climate change’ has been created. Over the last year, this page has received 1,713 unique views; and
		to support the County Council’s new youth engagement programme, two focus group workshops with 17, 18-24 year olds were delivered in July 2023 in Eastleigh and Basingstoke.
	Engagement
	As most major sources of emissions are beyond the control of the County Council a primary function of the climate change team is to influence, advocate for, and facilitate action by others. A dense programme of engagement activities reflects this priority with representation at major events, contributions to case studies, blog articles and numerous in-person and online presentations supporting partners and residents with their climate activities. Some highlights from this section include:
	External Presentations
		keynote presentation at the Climate Unity Youth Conference July 2023;
		speaker at University of Southampton 3rd International Conference on Evolving Cities July 2022; and
		speaker at The National Retrofit Hub: Finance Working Group.
	Events
		the New Forest Show - three days of direct engagement with over 350 residents;
		Planet Petersfield - engaged with families and local green groups; and
		a Parish Engagement event to promote ways for parishes to become involved in climate action. Attended by over 50 parish representatives.
	External Engagement
		UK Power Network on the development of a Local Area Energy Planning tool;
		ExxonMobil on the Solent Cluster Hydrogen Strategy;
		National Energy Foundation and leading social housing providers on retrofit; and
		UK Infrastructure Bank and Green Finance Institute on retrofit and green finance opportunities.
	Case Studies, Blog Posts and Awards
		winning the Regen Green Energy Award for Public Sector Local Leadership;
		a case study for Ashden and Friends of the Earth on the Council’s Year of Climate Resilience; and
		a case study for the Local Government Association on how to develop a retrofit scheme for private residents.

	12.	There are 2 Appendices to this report, as follows:
		Appendix 1 - Annual Report – this is the full annual report that provides detailed updates on progress that has been made on climate change over the past 12 months between July 2022 – July 2023; and
		Appendix 2 - Progress on Strategic Framework – provides full updates on key programmes including Residential, Energy Generation & Distribution, Green Economy, Transport, Natural Environment etc.

	Finance
	13.	In December 2021, Cabinet agreed to support the County Council’s continuing commitment to deliver on its climate targets and proposed to fund the Climate Change Team within the revenue budget on a permanent basis.
	14.	A one-off budget of £2million was also allocated to the climate change programme to support the significant activity required to meet the targets.
	15.	Table 1 below sets out a summary of the agreed committed expenditure on projects since the budget was allocated in 2020. This allocation includes 10-15% contingencies for each project.
	16.	The total allocated budget of £1,153,895 represents agreed expenditure not actual spend to date, which is lower.
	17.	In addition to the income outlined in the table above that offsets programme expenditure, income to offset the climate change team’s staff costs was also secured as part of the successful Community Renewal Fund bid.
	18.	A further successful bid to the National Lottery secured almost £500,000 to expand and deliver the Greening Campaign for three years, of which a share was secured to offset staff costs in both the climate change team and the waste prevention team.
	Performance
	19.	Overall good progress is being made on the delivery of the Climate Change Strategy through the various activities and programmes outlined in this annual report.
	20.	Within the Strategic Framework, there is a clear progress on key strategic programmes such as transport, residential emissions, energy and environment.
	21.	Engagement has become a strong focus for the work this year and the annual report clearly demonstrates the significant effort that has been put into both developing this further but also in engaging with residents and partners, through the community projects, networks and partnerships and very successful insights-led campaigns and broader engagement programmes.
	Consultation and Equalities
	22.	This decision relates to an annual monitoring report and does not result in any changes to services, so has been assessed as having a neutral impact on groups with protected characteristics.
	Climate Change Impact Assessments
	23.	Hampshire County Council utilises two decision-making tools to assess the carbon emissions and resilience of its projects and decisions.  These tools provide a clear, robust, and transparent way of assessing how projects, policies and initiatives contribute towards the County Council’s climate change targets of being carbon neutral and resilient to the impacts of a 2℃ temperature rise by 2050. This process ensures that climate change considerations are built into everything the Authority does.
	24.	This report is an annual progress update on both climate change mitigation and resilience, for the Hampshire area and across the whole organisation. Therefore, even though the tools were not applicable, the report demonstrates that significant action is being taken to address climate change mitigation and resilience. With 2022 being declared the Year of Climate Resilience more work has been undertaken to identify actions on resilience and showcase them to different audiences. Overall good progress on resilience is being made across the authority.
	25.	This report is an annual progress update on both climate change mitigation and resilience, for the Hampshire area and across the whole organisation, and demonstrates that significant action is being taken to address climate change mitigation and resilience. It also demonstrates that climate change is being embedded across all our services and that climate change is a key priority for Hampshire County Council.
	Conclusions
	26.	Based on the research and analysis undertaken over the last 24 months and the agreed focus on influencing, advocacy and facilitation of action by others the primary focus for 2023 onwards is:
		working on the delivery of the outward facing elements of the Strategic Framework;
		focusing on supporting Hampshire County Council residents through behaviour change and building resilience;
		continuing to build on the strategic leadership, influencing, enabling and advocacy role; and
		supporting corporate join-up and the embedding of climate change into business as usual across the organisation.


	REQUIRED CORPORATE AND LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan
	EQUALITIES IMPACT ASSESSMENT:
	1.	Equality Duty
	The County Council has a duty under Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (‘the Act’) to have due regard in the exercise of its functions to the need to:
	-	Eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation and any other conduct prohibited by or under the Act with regard to the protected characteristics as set out in section 4 of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation);
	-	Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation) and those who do not share it;
	-	Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic within section 149(7) of the Act (see above) and persons who do not share it.
	Due regard in this context involves having due regard in particular to:
	-	The need to remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons sharing a relevant characteristic connected to that characteristic;
	-	Take steps to meet the needs of persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic different from the needs of persons who do not share it;
	-	Encourage persons sharing a relevant protected characteristic to participate in public life or in any other activity which participation by such persons is disproportionally low.

	2.	Equalities Impact Assessment:


	7ia Climate Change Annual Report - Appendix 1-2023-12-12-Cabinet
	7ib Climate Change Annual Report - Appendix 2-2023-12-12-Cabinet
	7ii PRES Climate Change Annual Report Select Comm Nov 2023
	Slide 1
	Slide 2: Introduction
	Slide 3: New priorities and focus for Hampshire County Council 
	Slide 4: New priorities and focus for Hampshire County Council 
	Slide 5: New priorities and focus for Hampshire County Council 
	Slide 6: Baseline emissions 
	Slide 7: Strategic Framework
	Slide 8: Strategic Framework
	Slide 9: Strategic Framework
	Slide 10: Strategic Framework
	Slide 11: Strategic Framework
	Slide 12: Strategic Framework
	Slide 13: Networks and partnerships
	Slide 14: Communications and marketing 
	Slide 15: Engagement activities 
	Slide 16: Engagement activities 
	Slide 17: Summary & Next Steps


	8 Working Group Proposal
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Decision Report
	Purpose of this Report
	1.	The purpose of this report is to propose the establishment of a Task and Finish Working Group for the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee for Directorate SP25 proposals requiring a stage 2 Consultation.
	Recommendations
	2.	That the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee:
		sets up a Task and Finish Working Group to oversee and scrutinise the approach and outcomes of the County Council’s stage 2 consultation relating to specific Hampshire 2050 Directorate savings proposals;
		agrees the Terms of Reference for the Working Group, as set out in Appendix A; and
		agrees the membership of the Working Group.

	Contextual information
	3.	The Budget Consultation 2024-2026 Making the Most of Your Money, published in June 2023, proposed a number of reductions in Hampshire 2050 and Corporate Services budgets, approved by Full County Council on 9 November 2023. Two proposals are identified as requiring Stage 2 consultations:
	Proposal
	4.	In accordance with the County Council’s scrutiny arrangements conducted by the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee, it is proposed to set up a Task and Finish Working Group to give an opportunity to see the finalised stage 2 consultation documents, receive updates on the consultation process and coverage for engagement of key stakeholders, and provide feedback on the presentation of the findings of the Stage 2 Consultation process.
	5.	Proposed terms of reference are included in Appendix A, setting out the role, purpose, objectives, outcomes and proposed membership of the working group.
	Next Steps
	6.	Following confirmed nominations in accordance with the membership set out in the terms of reference, it is proposed that the working group will hold an initial meeting on 22 December 2023 to review the finalised consultation document (and to also understand the timeline for reviewing) and make recommendations on the outcomes of the planned formal public consultation.

	8i Task and Finish Working Group for Directorate SP25 Consultations - Appendix A-2023-11-30-Hampshire 2050 Select Cttee

	9 Work Programme
	HAMPSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL
	Report
	Purpose of the Report
	1.	The purpose of this item is to provide the work programme of future topics to be considered by this Select Committee and discuss any other items that may need to be added.
	Recommendation
	2.	That the Select Committee discusses and agrees potential items for the work programme that can be prioritised and allocated by the Chairman of the Hampshire 2050, Corporate Services and Resources Select Committee in consultation with the Directors of Corporate Operations, Hampshire 2050 and People and Organisation.

	REQUIRED CORPORATE OR LEGAL INFORMATION:
	Links to the Strategic Plan


